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Governor’s Foreword

A

s we entered the year 2001 there were signs of a
slowdown in the United States economy, which as

the year progressed extended to other major
economies in the world. The events of September 11
introduced a period of heightened international economic
uncertainty. These developments helped to set the conditions against which Trinidad
and Tobago’s economic performance evolved in 2001. As a small, open energy-based
economy we are highly vulnerable to external shocks arising from the price volatility of
our major export commodities. In addition to these direct terms of trade effects, the
events of September 11 raised the prospect of some contraction in demand for our nonoil manufacturing exports, induced in part by an expected sharp decline in tourism in
many of our Caribbean trading partner countries.
As we end the year 2001 there is nevertheless cause for comfort in the continued strong
performance of the Trinidad and Tobago economy, which registered its eighth consecutive
year of growth. Even in the wake of September 11 the forecast continues to favour real
growth of over 3 percent in calendar 20011, so that although external conditions have
become more difficult the economy remains well positioned to cope with the effects of
these developments and to maintain the growth momentum of the nineties.
The continued healthy performance of the economy in 2001 has been based on recent
additions to productive capacity in the energy sector, which have complemented
continuing growth in the non-oil sector of the economy. The major macroeconomic
indicators have generally been evolving in a favourable direction. There was a surplus
on the current account of the balance of payments and international reserves grew
strongly, contributing to a stable foreign exchange market. The external debt service
ratio has remained in single digits while the fiscal accounts were in surplus. In addition,
the non-food rate of inflation was remarkably low and unemployment continued to fall.
Our domestic money markets have also been quite orderly, although some problems of
excess liquidity emerged towards the end of the year. The growth of credit remained
moderate throughout the year, exerting little pressure in the foreign exchange market
in spite of falling interest rates.
During the year the Central Bank maintained its efforts to strengthen the financial
system and to improve the conduct of monetary policy. On one front the Bank continued
to pursue measures to strengthen the institutional structure of the capital market and
to improve the operations of the money and foreign exchange market. An improved
capital market will go a long way towards reducing the cost of financial intermediation

1

With effect from October 1 1998, the financial year of the Government of Trinidad and Tobago was revised to the 12-month period from October 1
to September 30 of the following calendar year. The Central Bank is statutorily required to have the same financial year as the central government.
However, many economic data series continue to be reported on a calendar year basis. The Bank’s Annual Economic Survey for the full calendar year
will normally be published in March.
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and enhancing the operation of the government bond market. In addition, a number of
key initiatives were focused on improving regulatory and supervisory standards with the
aim of bringing them in line with international best practice. At the same time much was
achieved towards building the capacity and infrastructure that will allow the Central
Bank to extend its supervisory role in the financial sector. A project aimed at integrating
the supervision of insurance companies and pension funds with that of commercial
banks is expected to be completed in 2002.
During the year the Bank initiated a transformation programme to improve its own
internal processes and also to align them with best practice. Among other things, the
programme emphasises risk management in the internal audit function and aims to
strengthen the Bank’s information technology base. The programme also encompasses
other projects in the areas of reserve asset management, the payments system, domestic
money and foreign exchange market operations, and internal and external
communications. One objective of the latter is to promote higher levels of financial literacy
through appropriate outreach programmes.
In the year ahead the resilience of the Trinidad and Tobago economy will continue to be
tested in a difficult external environment. While many have suggested that the global
economy will begin to recover by the latter half of 2002, economic management in Trinidad
and Tobago will have to gear itself for the possibility that the current recession will be
more prolonged. The challenge for the Central Bank will be to achieve an appropriate
balance in its monetary policy. This will ensure that the economy achieves the highest
growth rate possible within the constraints of a weaker global economy, and at the same
time avoid putting at risk the record of internal and external stability that has been so
carefully built up over the last few years. However, there is every reason to be confident
that the task is not beyond us.
I would like to thank the Board of Directors, the management and staff for their
encouragement and efforts during the year.

Winston Dookeran

Governor
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MONETARY POLICY OBJECTIVES

T

he Central Bank Act (1994)

products, Trinidad and Tobago recorded a

Chapter 79:02 as amended

sound macroeconomic performance in the

defines the main function of the

first nine months of 2001. The Trinidad

Bank as “the promotion of such monetary

and Tobago economy grew by 3.9 per cent

credit and exchange rate conditions as are

in real terms in this period, equalling the

most favourable to the development of the

average growth rate over the last five years.

economy of Trinidad and Tobago.”

The

Except for the struggling agricultural

Bank pursues this mission of contributing

sector, the economy displayed all-round

to sustained economic growth and

strength. In the key energy sector, where

development by striving to create an

petrochemicals have overtaken oil as the

environment of monetary stability.

main driver of growth, output increased
by 1.3 per cent in spite of the continued

In pursuit of this goal, the Bank conducts

decline of crude oil production. Production

monetary policy to achieve a low and stable

of petrochemicals rose by 16.7 per cent

domestic rate of inflation.

Given the

reflecting the effects of capacity additions

sensitivity of the domestic price level to

in mid-2000 and smoother production

exchange

the

runs on account of fewer plant disruptions.

maintenance of an orderly exchange

Although the performance of the non-

market is also an important factor in

energy sector was less favourable than in

monetary policy although there is no

the previous year, economic activity in this

explicit targeting of the exchange rate. The

sector still expanded by 4.7 per cent

Bank’s monetary policy therefore seeks to

compared with 6.4 per cent in the

maintain a suitable level of liquidity in the

corresponding period a year earlier.

rate

movements,

context of domestic and international
developments that would encourage

The sustained growth of the economy has

economic activity without promoting

resulted

inflationary pressures.

unemployment since 1994. Data for the

in

steadily

declining

first quarter of 2001 point to a

Domestic Economic Setting

continuation of this trend with the

Against the backdrop of a faltering global

unemployment rate falling to 10.7 per cent,

economy and weakening prices for energy

down from 11.9 per cent in the previous

3

quarter and 12.5 per cent a year earlier.

earlier. The behaviour of food prices was

A total of 4.7 thousand new jobs were

heavily influenced by price volatility

created over the period, mostly in the areas

affecting a narrow range of market items,

of Construction and Transport, Storage

which did not appear consistent with

and Communications.

actual developments in the economy.

However, this

improved picture partly reflected a 1.1 per
cent contraction in the labour force.

Higher oil tax revenue and a much
improved domestic tax effort enabled the

These developments were accompanied by

government to post a surplus of $650

relatively low underlying price movements.

million in fiscal 2001, reversing the small

Excluding food, the retail prices index (RPI)

deficit incurred in the previous fiscal year.

averaged 0.9 per cent in the period

Oil prices were higher in fiscal 2001 than

January-September 2001, compared with

in the previous fiscal year, albeit

1.7 per cent in the corresponding period a

marginally, averaging US$28.26 per barrel

year earlier.

Including food prices,

compared with US$28.14 in fiscal year

measured inflation (in the nine-month

2000. This led to an increase of $818

period of 2001) was higher as the RPI

million in government’s oil revenue over

increased by an average of 5.9 per cent

the fiscal year.

over the corresponding period a year

revenue rose by $2.0 billion or by about

Government’s current

,.,,

TABLE 1
Selected Economic Indicators 1997 - September 2001
January-September
Item

1997

1998

1999

2000

2000

2001

Changes in Real GDP (factor cost)
(1985=100)

3.0

4.0

5.1

4.7

5.0

3.9

Inflation Rate (%)

3.7

5.6

3.4

3.6

3.3

5.9

Unemployment Rate (%)

15.0

14.2

13.1

12.21

12.32

10.73

Fiscal Balance/GDP (%)

0.1

-1.9

-3.2

1.6

1.2

0.8

-9.9

-10.5

0.5

6.7

4.8

5.3#

3.0

1.3

2.4

5.4

5.3

3.7#
1,646.0

Current Account/GDP (%)
Overall BOP/GDP (%)
External Public Debt (US$Mn)

1,564.8

1,471.1

1,584.8

1,679.8

1,796.3

Debt Service Ratio (%)

15.4

9.9

8.0

7.9

6.1

4.2#

W.T.I. (US$/barrel)

20.4

14.4

19.3

30.3

29.6

27.9

1,120.3

1,184.5

1,367.8

1,890.4

1,711.0

2,531.1

6.25

6.28

6.27

6.27

6.27

6.21

Gross International Reserve (US$Mn)
Exchange Rate (TT$/US$)4

4

1

Average of 3 quarters. Second quarter data was unavailable.

2

Represents the average of the first and third quarters of 2000.

3

Represents data for first quarter of 2001 only.

4

This rate represents the mid-point of the period average of the buying and selling rates of the TT/US dollar.

#

These are the ratios for the period January-June 2001.
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17 per cent, with 59 per cent of the

compared with 15.3 per cent in the

increase coming from the strongly growing

comparable period a year earlier.

non-oil sector, which was also the focus
of a heightened collection drive that

On the domestic bond and equity markets,

included an amnesty for taxpayers in

fourteen domestic currency securities and

arrears. The strong overall revenue

eight US dollar issues were floated on the

performance allowed the government to

primary bond market with face values

absorb comfortably a $1.3 billion or 11 per

totaling $3,338.1 million and US$114.43

cent increase in its total expenditure and

million respectively over the reporting

still end the fiscal year in a surplus

period 2000-2001. The terms to maturity

position.

on these issues varied between 5-20 years
in respect of the domestic currency issues

Data on the external performance, which

and 1-15 years in respect of the US dollar

is available only for the first half of 2001,

issues. The state enterprises and public

revealed that the country recorded a

utilities sector were the major borrowers

surplus of US$328 million for this six-

on the market during the reporting period

month period. This surplus was slightly

and accounted for approximately 54 per

below the US$350 million recorded in the

cent and 27.4 per cent of all domestic

first half of 2000. The current account

currency and US-dollar denominated

performed favourably as export earnings

issues respectively occurring on the

(due to higher oil prices) grew twice as fast

domestic market.

as imports, resulting in an expanded trade
surplus of US$641 million and an overall

The equity market exhibited mixed

current account surplus of US$467

performance during the fiscal year, with

million. The performance of the current

the

account largely offset a deterioration in the

(1983=100) declining moderately by 3.25

capital account where a deficit of US$139

points or 0.73 per cent to 444.08 at the

million was recorded, despite a sharp rise

end of September 2001. From an opening

in foreign direct investment associated

position of 447.33 points in October 2000,

mainly with the ongoing LNG plant

the index peaked to an annual high of

expansion.

The decline in the capital

455.58 points on September 19, 2001 but

account was largely due to private capital

declined subsequently in the aftermath of

outflows. Movements in official foreign

the events of September 11 and the

reserves suggest that a surplus of around

growing political uncertainty leading up to

US$144 million can be expected in the

the elections of December 10, 2001 (called

third quarter of 2001.

At the end of

one year after the previous election). The

September 2001, the country’s net foreign

market exhibited some resilience however.

exchange reserves stood at US$2.0 billion,

After an initial decline in stock market

while overall gross foreign assets

prices coming some nine days after the ill-

amounted to US$2.5 billion or 8 months

fated occurrence in the United States of

of imports.

America, the market had recovered a mere

composite

stock

price

index

two months thereafter. Moreover, market
Throughout the nine months to September

capitalisation also exhibited an 8.80 per

2001, the demand for credit was sluggish

cent gain in the twelve months to

in spite of a decline in interest rate levels.

September, closing at $32,308.3 million

Commercial bank lending to the private

or $2,614 million higher.

sector increased by just 6.4 per cent,

5

Achievement of Monetary Policy
Objectives

The Bank also moved to engender greater

The Bank adopted a balanced approach

effect from May 16, 2001 the Bank reduced

to achieve a suitable level of liquidity that

the reserve requirement for commercial

would encourage economic activity without

banks to 18 per cent from 21 per cent of

promoting inflationary pressures. Perhaps

prescribed liabilities while holding the

the greatest challenge to the achievement

requirement for non-bank financial

of this objective arose from technical

institutions unchanged at 9 per cent. This

constraints associated with debt ceilings

action represented the first change in

on short-term treasury securities. This

statutory reserves since April 1998. The

constraint diluted the Bank’s ability to

resources released were immediately

remove liquidity, which led to a build-up

absorbed through an issue of Government

of excess liquidity in the financial system

bonds to commercial banks. The lowering

towards the end of the financial year.

of

efficiency in financial intermediation. With

the

non-remunerated

reserve

requirement reduced the cost of financial
Despite this constraint, policy actions over

intermediation which was translated into

the year produced monetary conditions

lower lending rates for both consumers

which ensured that price levels did not

and businesses as the prime lending rate

fluctuate substantially, and remained

fell by 150 basis points to 15 per cent.

caption to be placed
relatively low.

Excluding food, the

While at that time the extent of the effects

consumer price index exhibited a clear

of the slowing global economy were not yet

trend of low and declining year-on-year

fully known, the timing of this policy action

inflation, moving from 1.68 per cent in

was particularly favourable in light of

September 2000 to 0.91 per cent in

international developments later in the

September 2001.

financial year. As signs of weakness in
the international economy became clearer,

Stability was also maintained in the foreign

several countries, including the United

exchange market.

Following some

States, adopted expansionary monetary

tightness in the first quarter of the financial

policies in an effort to forestall possible

year, market conditions improved at the

recession. In addition, the softening of

beginning of 2001, as prospects for the US

international prices of some of Trinidad

economy deteriorated. During the first

and Tobago’s key energy sector exports

nine months of 2001, conditions were such

began to pose some threat to the

that the Bank was a net purchaser of

maintenance of domestic economic

foreign exchange from the market. The

growth.

exchange rate strengthened in this period.
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In this emerging environment, the Bank

evidenced by a substantial narrowing of

sought to strike the appropriate balance

interest rate differentials between Trinidad

in managing liquidity conditions. Through

and Tobago and the United States, as the

its open market operations, the Bank

gap between the domestic and United

withdrew $944.6 million in the first seven

States 3-month treasury bill rates

months of the financial year to offset

contracted by 63 basis points during the

injections of over $1,171.8 million arising

course of the financial year.

2001 ANNUAL REPORT

from net fiscal operations. The technical
constraints linked to government debt

The Bank remained vigilant to the

ceilings subsequently restricted the further

possibility that the substantially easier

use of open market operations, and

monetary environment could have negative

liquidity in the financial system began to

effects on the attainment of its objectives.

expand.

However, private sector credit growth
actually slowed. Over the twelve-month

The combination of lower reserve

period ended September 2001, credit by

requirements and very liquid conditions

commercial banks to the private sector

in the financial system caused short-term

grew by 7.5 per cent compared to 16.1 per

domestic interest rates to decline sharply.

cent in the previous year, with the growth

In the treasury bill market, the average

of business credit outstripping that of

discount rate on 90-day bills declined by

consumer credit. Credit extended by non-

431 basis points to 6.51 per cent during

banks to the private sector credit was also

the course of the financial year. Similarly,

subdued, growing by 12.4 per cent

the overnight inter-bank rate, which had

compared to 25.9 per cent in the

reached a high of 11.57 per cent in mid-

corresponding period a year earlier.

January, fell within a range of 5.25 per
cent to 5.35 per cent at the end of

On balance, monetary policy appeared to

September 2001. The trend in interest

have achieved a reasonable degree of

rates, while broadly appropriate in light of

monetary stability during the year. Despite

external economic conditions, was much

the faltering global economy, the domestic

sharper than that experienced in major

economy continued to grow during the

trading partner countries.

period. In addition, the increased value of

This was

7

the TT dollar and the decline in domestic

Tobago’s energy products, which were

interest rates provide a favourable setting

already softening prior to the attacks, are

for future growth in the prevailing external

expected to weaken even more sharply in

economic environment.

the months ahead, while non-oil exports
to the region (vulnerable to the sharp

In the wake of the September 11 attacks

decline in tourism) also appeared to be at

in the United States and stronger evidence

risk of contraction. These circumstances

of recession in the world’s leading

may necessitate a relatively less restrictive

economies, some risks have surfaced for

stance in the period ahead and a revision

the

of fiscal priorities in the next financial year.

domestic

economic

outlook.

International prices for Trinidad and

8
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BANKING OPERATIONS
Currency in Circulation

C

urrency in circulation increased

decline in subsequent months did

substantially in the period

materialise, the amount of currency in

October 2000 to September

circulation remained substantially higher

2001. The value of notes and coins in

than it was at the onset of the period.

circulation climbed by 10 per cent from
$1,362 million at September 30, 2000 to

New notes and coins issued during the

$1,500 million at September 30, 2001.

year amounted to $1,120 million while the

This compares with a growth of 4 per cent

re-issue of used currency amounted to

in the corresponding period a year earlier.

$900 million. Notes and coins redeemed

As in many other countries, the value of

from the commercial banks amounted to

currency in circulation reached a high in

$1,882 million. Table 2 shows the highs

December 2000 in preparation for the Y2K

and lows attained over the year.

changeover. However, while the expected

TABLE 2
Currency in Circulation
October 2000 - September 2001
Dollars Million
Months

High

Low

Average

2000
October

1,412.1

1,343.6

1,374.7

November

1,437.9

1,362.3

1,395.8

December

1,708.0

1,429.1

1,571.1

1,704.3

1,410.0

1,481.9

2001
January
February

1,507.4

1,424.1

1,461.2

March

1,541.8

1,404.5

1,474.7

April

1,538.3

1,452.9

1,493.0

May

1,500.2

1,432.8

1,465.8

June

1,524.0

1,447.5

1,487.5

July

1,506.5

1,434.4

1,474.8

August

1,532.6

1,444.8

1,489.8

September

1,551.6

1,478.7

1,507.6

11

Treasury notes were
issued for the first time
in February 2000.

Statutory Reserve Requirements

For the period under review, the statutory

The policy measure taken by the Bank with

cash reserves of the commercial banks

effect from May 16, 2001 of reducing the

averaged $2,499 million while those of the

statutory reserve requirement for the

non-bank financial institutions averaged

commercial banks from 21 per cent of

$517 million.

prescribed liabilities to 18 per cent resulted

in a fall of $376 million in the amount of

Open Market Operations

cash that commercial banks were required

During the twelve-month period ending

to deposit at the Bank. In the current year

September 2001, the Bank engaged in

the shortfalls on commercial banks’

open market activities on a regular basis,

reserve requirement were much less than

issuing an additional $815 million of

in the previous year.

treasury securities.

The deficiency

This heightened

interest paid by commercial banks fell by

activity was necessitated by the liquid

approximately 75 per cent to $107,665.

conditions that prevailed largely as a result
of heavy injections of resources by the

financial

central government. The total injection in

institutions, about 50 per cent fell short

the financial year amounted to $1.3 billion,

on their reserve requirement at varying

of which net domestic bond redemptions

times during the year.

represented $221 million and domestic

Among

non-bank

The extent of

shortfalls by these institutions was also

spending $1.1 billion.

less and the amount of deficiency interest

redemptions amounted to $1.5 billion,

declined by 64 per cent to $1,467

including redemption of Arrears of

compared with the level of the previous

Emolument bonds of $500 million and

year.

12
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Gross bond
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early redemption of relatively high cost

bonds of maturities ranging from 1 to 15

callable debt of $700 million. New bond

years. The level of transactions reported

issues, including the partial refinancing of

by authorised dealers, including bureaux

callable bonds, in the period totalled $1.3

de change, was nearly 34 per cent higher

billion.

in the year to September 2001 when
compared with the preceding 12-month

By April 2001, open market activity had

period.

exhausted the legal issue limit of $3 billion
for treasury bills and notes. The excess

Market conditions became increasingly

liquidity in the banking system was

easier over the year. The Central Bank

reflected in a build up of special deposits

sold net US$55 million in the fourth

at the Bank and steep declines in treasury

quarter of 2000, and subsequently

bill rates. The average discount rate on

purchased US$35 million in the period

three-month treasury bills fell from a high

January-September 2001.

of 10.88 per cent in October 2000 to a low

liquidity of the market led to a gradual

of 5.89 per cent in mid-September 2001,

appreciation in the value of the local

recovering slightly to 6.83 per cent at the

currency, with the average selling rate for

end of the month. The six-month rate

US dollars falling from TT$6.2996 at the

followed a similar trend, declining to 6.51

end of December 2000 to TT$6.1388 on

per cent from 10.91 per cent over the same

September 28, 2001.

The greater

period. Almost all auctions in the primary

Foreign Exchange Market

Agency Functions
(i) Public Sector (Arrears of Emoluments)
Bonds

Activity in the domestic foreign exchange

In its capacity as fiscal agent for the Two-

market increased significantly reflecting

year Public Sector (Arrears of Emoluments)

the expansion in the economy, the growth

Bonds issued by the Government to public

in merchandise trade as well as a rise in

servants under the Public Sector (Arrears

capital market activity.

The domestic

of Emoluments) Act 1995 as amended in

capital market was clearly emerging as an

1998, the Bank continued to manage

attractive source of funds as six regional

payments of maturity proceeds. The last

issues raised a total of US$80.2 million in

bond in the series matured on January

market were oversubscribed.

13

31, 2001. Encashment of these bonds

financial institutions – World Bank, Banco

during the year amounted to $502.4

Latino Americano De Exportaciones

million, while bonds valued at $23.6

(BLADEX), Export Financing Fund of the

million were yet to be redeemed as at

Central Bank of Venezuela (FINEXPO) and

September 30, 2001.

Export Development Corporation of
Canada. These institutions provide credit

(ii) Downtown Owners & Merchants
Association (DOMA) Facility

to

The DOMA facility was started in 1991 to

importers of capital goods and services.

facilitate the rebuilding of a major section

These facilities were first accessed in the

of Port of Spain which had been destroyed

late 1980s during the period of economic

by disturbances in 1990. Under the terms

downturn and there has been a winding

of this arrangement, the Government

down of activity in recent years.

local

export

manufacturers,

manufacturers of import substitutes and

agreed to subsidise the interest on loans
taken to rebuild the affected areas. The

Disbursements under the World Bank

final subsidy payment is payable in 2010.

facility, the Business Expansion and

The operational arrangements require the

Industrial Restructuring Loan (BEIRL),

Bank to make subsidy payments to

ended in 1999. Activity has since centred

merchants through their commercial

on the administration of the repayment of

banks and to receive reimbursements from

sub-loans by beneficiary customers

the Government. Over the current year,

through their respective participating

subsidy payments amounting to $2.1

financial intermediaries. A total of ninety

million were made to twenty-one (21)

one (91) sub-loans amounting to US$16.2

beneficiary companies, bringing the

million were disbursed to forty five (45)

cumulative interest paid by the Bank as

beneficiary companies between 1993 and

at September 30, 2001 to $76.2 million.

1999. To date, six (6) of these loans have

The Government has repaid $45.5 million

been fully repaid and the principal balance

while the balance of $30.7 million is

outstanding as at September 30, 2001 of

currently due.

$50.1 million is expected to be repaid by
2006.

(iii) Credit Facilities
The Bank continued to administer four
credit facilities provided by multinational
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although the excess liquidity in the
financial system was a potential risk to
monetary and financial stability.

T

he official international reserves
are managed by the Bank with

(i)

Exit Policy

the objective of achieving the best

As an integral part of the supervisory

return given an acceptable level of risk.

procedures, the Bank implemented an Exit

The net international reserves amounted

Policy for licensed financial institutions in

to US$1,840.0 million as at September 30,

order to improve the transparency of the

2001,

35 percent higher than the

process. The Exit Policy is designed to

September 30, 2000 level of US$1,364.0

facilitate the timely restructuring or orderly

million.

exit of failing financial institutions through

The increases in the level of

reserves over the past several years

prompt, corrective action.

combined with a smaller public external

features of the policy include supervisory

debt service requirement have resulted in

procedures outlined in existing banking

an increasing stable core of reserves. At

legislation, monitoring by the supervision

the end of the period the majority of

department and a rules-based as well as

reserves were held in United States dollar

discretionary ladder of intervention. The

instruments with an average duration not

Exit Policy also satisfies Principle 22 of the

exceeding 24 months.

Basle Committee’s Core Principles for

The salient

Effective Bank Supervision (refer to
www.bis.org).

FINANCIAL SYSTEM OVERSIGHT
In devising the Exit Policy, it was

Supervisory Practices

recognised that while the existing

T

he Bank continued to effect

legislative and regulatory framework is

improvements in its supervisory

adequate for the implementation of the

practices to support its objective

Policy, the enforcement provisions in

of ensuring a sound and efficient financial

existing

system.

The building of capacity was

enhancement.

legislation

needed

some

Accordingly, legislative

facilitated through funding from the

amendments have been proposed in order

Multilateral Investment Fund (MIF)

to strengthen the regulatory authority of

administered by the IADB. This funding

the Bank.

was directed to the training of bank

proposals to give the Bank the authority

examiners,

to: -

improving

information

These amendments include

technology systems and other supervisory
initiatives. Supervisory operations were

impose civil money penalties on an

strengthened by the introduction of

institution that is in breach of

software to improve the monitoring of

legislation or regulation, or is

financial institutions by allowing bank

conducting its business in an

examiners more ready access to financial

imprudent manner; and,

and statistical data.
set prudential regulations or criteria
Over the year, the key microprudential

by administrative directions, which

indicators of financial sector performance

are legally binding on licensed

revealed few signs of financial distress,

institutions.
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(ii)

Liquid Assets Ratio

In

August

2001,

the

Inspection

The Liquid Assets Ratio in respect of

Department concluded a self- assessment

foreign currency liabilities was established

of Trinidad and Tobago’s compliance with

as a prudential reserve to ensure that

the Basel Committee’s Core Principles.

financial institutions maintain an

The country was found to be largely in

adequate level of foreign currency assets

compliance with these Principles.

in liquid form. With effect from September

Identified deficiencies related mainly to

2001, the liquid assets ratio of 20 per cent

legislative reforms, which have since been

on foreign currency deposits was extended

sought.

from commercial banks to include non-

amendments include the following:-

The proposed legislative

bank financial institutions which accept
conduct

foreign currency deposits.

of

supervision

on

a

consolidated basis where a financial

International Supervisory
Developments
(i) Assessment of Compliance with
Core Principles

institution is part of a group;
sharing of information with domestic
and foreign regulators;

The Bank’s Inspection Department has
been working to achieve compliance with

supervision

the Basel Committee’s Twenty-Five Core

companies; and,

Principles

for

Effective

of

bank

holding

Banking

Supervision. The Core Principles seek to

granting of full protection to the

improve the strength of financial systems

Central Bank and its staff against

and provide the international financial

lawsuits for action taken while

community with a benchmark against

performing their duties under the Act

which

bank

in good faith and protecting them

supervisory regimes can be assessed. To

against the cost of defending such

facilitate the regulatory authorities’

actions.

the

effectiveness

of

implementation of, and conformity with
the Core Principles, the Committee also

An independent assessment was also

developed a harmonised assessment

conducted by an external consulting firm.

methodology. This methodology allows for

The findings of this assessment were

supervisory self-assessments, peer reviews

compatible with the findings of the self-

within regional groupings of bank

assessment.

supervisors and reviews conducted by
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independent third parties such as

(ii)

Recent Developments

consulting firms, the IMF and the World

The Basel Committee, in response to the

Bank.

significant transformation of the financial
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landscape, released in June 1999,

date of completion of this Project is August

proposals for more risk sensitive guidelines

2002.

to replace the 1988 Capital Accord. The
comments received on this proposal were

Anti Money Laundering Activities

incorporated in a second consultative

In a continuing effort to improve anti

document on the New Basel Capital Accord

money laundering legislation in Trinidad

which was issued in January 2001 for

and

comments by May 2001.

recommendations to the Treasury

Tobago,

the

Bank

made

Solicitor’s Office of the Ministry of Finance
The Inspection Department participated in

that the Financial Obligations Regulation

this consultative process and its comments

2001 be enhanced to reflect the ‘know your

on the New Capital Accord have since been

customer’ procedures as outlined in the

published on the Bank for International

Guidelines on Money Laundering (see

Settlements website, along with the

Appendix I).

comments of several other countries.
Based on comments received, the Basel

The

Committee is in the process of devising a

responsibilities with respect to the keeping

complete proposal for an additional round

of records by financial institutions and the

of consultation in early 2002.

verification of the identities of persons

The

draft

legislation

prescribes

implementation date of the new Accord has

transacting financial business.

been revised to 2005.

significant provisions in the draft

Other

Regulations include:

Integrated Supervision
In March 2001 the Bank commenced the

financial institutions must ascertain

implementation of the Integrated Financial

the identity of every individual who

Sector Supervision Project. This Project

signs a signature card of an account;

has as its overall objective the promotion
of a sound and stable financial market

financial institutions receiving cash,

through integration of the supervision of

bank cheques, money orders or

insurance companies and pension plans

travellers cheques in the amount of

with that of banking institutions under the

$10,000 or more must retain a large-

supervisory authority of the Bank. The

cash-transaction

Project is seeking to bring about

indicates the name of the person in

improvement in the regulation and

whose account the amount is

supervision of the insurance and pension

deposited or the individual from

funds sector and to provide a single

whom the money is received;

record

that

oversight of the financial sector, thereby
reducing the scope for regulatory arbitrage

transactions entered into on the same

by financial conglomerates. The scope of

day resulting in a total amount of

the Project involves the development and

money received of $10,000 or more

implementation of five key components,

must be treated as a single

namely: the Legal and Regulatory

transaction if conducted by the same

Framework;

person and,

Integration

Strategy,

Organisation and Resources; Operational
Framework and Training; Insurance Sector

financial institutions shall keep and

and

retain for a period of at least six years,

Pension

Fund

Reviews;

and

Information Technology. The estimated

signature

cards,

operating
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agreements for all account holders,

would be to act as an unbiased and

deposit slips, copy of account

independent mediator in cases where a

statements sent to a client, cleared

customer is dissatisfied with the resolution

cheques, and customer credit files.

of a complaint against a financial
institution within a given period.

The

In the wake of the September 11, 2001

Ombudsman would have the authority to

attacks on the United States and the

recommend awards and publicise cases

directives which were issued by the UN

where institutions fail to comply with

Security Committee to counter terrorism,

recommendations. It is proposed that the

the Bank reviewed its guidelines and

Ombudsman Scheme will cover, in the first

practices to ensure their effectiveness in

instance, services offered by all licensed

monitoring and tracking any illicit funds

financial institutions. In the longer term,

in the financial system.

the Scheme is expected to incorporate all
providers of financial services in Trinidad

Financial Services Ombudsman

and Tobago.

Proposals for the implementation of a
were advanced in several fora during the

Institutional Developments at
Licensed Financial Institutions

course of the year. A recommendation was

Effective

made in the context of the initial study of

Intercommercial Trust and Merchant Bank

the integration of the supervision of

Limited, a subsidiary of Intercommercial

financial institutions and again by both

Bank Limited, was licensed to conduct

the Bankers’ Association of Trinidad and

business of a financial nature under

Tobago and a public interest group. The

Section 8(2) of the Financial Institutions

Bank supported the introduction of this

Act 1993 (FIA).

Scheme and recommendations in this

financial

regard were made to the Minister of

operations on October 1, 2001.

Finance. In his presentation of the 2001-

brought the number of licensed financial

2002 budget, the Minister of Finance

institutions to twenty-one (21). During the

announced that the Government will

first quarter of 2001, a non-bank financial

create the position of Financial Services

institution launched the country’s first

Ombudsman. This newly created position

Islamic Banking Unit (IBU). At year-end

will in no way circumvent the internal

the total number of branches in the

mechanism of financial institutions for

financial system remained unchanged.

dealing with complaints.

Although First Citizens Bank (FCB) and

Financial Services Ombudsman Scheme

September

24,

2001,

The Bank Inspection
Department will focus
on risk management
processes.

The new non-banking

institution

commenced
This

CLICO Investment Bank (CIB) each opened
The principal role of the Ombudsman

18

one new branch, this was offset by the
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TABLE 3
Commercial Banks and Non-Bank Financial Institutions
Selected Indicators
Commercial Banks

Non-Bank Financial Institutions

Sept 01/
Sept 00 Sept 00 (%) Sept 01

Sept 01

Sept 00

Sept 01/
Sept 00 (%)

Gross Assets (TT$Mn)
Foreign Currency Assets
Gross Loans
Gross Investments

37,007.0
10,540.0
14,581.0
5,913.0

31,353.0
7,955.0
13,306.0
5,573.0

18.0
32.5
9.6
6.1

14,739.0
4,602.0
5,906.0
5,955.0

13,228.0
3,673.0
4,496.9
5,313.0

11.4
25.3
18.3
12.1

Total Liabilities (TT$Mn)
Foreign Currency Liabilities
Deposits
Borrowings
Other Current Liabilities

32,361.0
10,752.0
20,483.0
2,814.0
2,677.0

27,291.0
8,071.0
17,409.0
1,062.0
3,210.0

18.6
33.2
17.7
164.9
(16.6)

12,675.0
4,697.0
6,268.0
111.0
5,218.0

11,671.0
3,658.0
5,934.0
139.0
4,600.0

8.6
28.4
5.6
(20.3)
13.4

782.0
2,677.0
300.0
1,409.0

953.0
2,345.0
335.0
1,413.0

(17.9)
14.2
(10.5)
(0.3)

4,299.0
1,066.0
514.0
489.0

3,123.0
965.0
425.0
486.0

37.7
10.5
20.9
0.7

Asset Quality Ratios (%)
Gross Loans/Gross Assets
Gross Investments/Gross Assets
Past due loans > 3 months/ Gross Loans
Loan Loss Provision/ Total Loans

39.4
16.0
3.1
3.0

42.4
17.8
4.5
2.8

40.1
40.4
2.5
1.2

37.7
40.2
3.7
1.3

Liquidity Ratios (%)
Liquid Funds/ Deposit Liabilities & Interbank Funds
Liquid Funds/ Gross Assets

31.6
17.6

25.2
14.0

25.7
11.4

26.6
12.3

Capital Ratios (%)
Deposit Liabilities/ Share Capital & Statutory Reserves
Core Capital/Total Risk-Adjusted Assets
Total Qualifying Capital/ Total Risk-Adjusted Assets

10.5
17.9
19.9

9.1
17.2
19.4

7.9
18.7
23.2

8.3
14.6
17.8

Money Market and Fund Raising Instruments
Long-Term Liabilities
Fund Raising Instruments
Other Long-Term Liabilities

closure of one branch of the former as well

Agreement on June 15, 2001 to acquire

as one Royal Bank branch.

the assets and liabilities of the banking
operations of ABN AMRO in Aruba.

The Royal Bank of Trinidad and Tobago
Financial Holdings Limited (RBTTFHL)
expanded its regional presence in the

(i)

Performance of Licensed Financial
Institutions

period of review. RBTTFHL acquired the

The total assets of commercial banks and

branch operations of ABN AMRO Banking

non-banks increased by 18 per cent and

Group in Suriname in December 2000 and

11.4 per cent respectively, over the

the Union Bank of Jamaica in March 2001.

financial year (Table 3). Growth in total

Additionally, the Royal Bank of Trinidad

assets

and Tobago signed a Sale and Purchase

concentrated in the loan portfolio of banks

of

these

institutions

was

19

(9.6 per cent) and non-banks (18.3 per

(ii)

cent).

Code of Banking Practice

Asset growth among commercial

After consultation with the banking

banks was funded primarily by customers’

community, a Code of Banking Practice

deposits, although the short-term

was introduced by the Bankers Association

borrowings of commercial banks increased

in February 2001. This Code seeks to

by 155 per cent over the same period. In

promote good banking practice by

the case of non-banks, asset growth was

formalising standards of disclosure and

funded primarily by short-term fund

conduct. The Code makes reference to the

raising instruments.

establishment of a Banking Ombudsman
to resolve disputes once a bank’s internal

There was overall improvement in the asset

process has been exhausted.

quality of both banks and non-banks.
This was evidenced by the decline in the

Payment System Oversight

ratio of past due loans over 3 months to

The three-year Action Plan for payment

total gross loans over the period, coupled

system reform made slower than

with stability or increases in the

anticipated progress. The Core Project

corresponding provisioning ratio. Both

Team established at end-September 2000

banks

reported

focussed attention on reducing payment

substantial and comparable growth in

system risk in the Bank’s activities.

their foreign currency assets and liabilities

During the year ended September 2001,

in the period of review.

the following were achieved:

and

non-banks

The capital ratios for banks and non-banks

a software interface was established

showed that the financial system as a

between the Bank’s accounting

whole continued to be well-capitalised.

system and the cheque settlement

The ratio of total qualifying capital to total

system;

risk adjusted assets for both commercial
banks and for non-banks, was 19.9 per

the

cent and 23.2 per cent, respectively, well

accounting statements electronically

above the existing statutory minimum of

to customers commenced with the

8 per cent.

commercial banks;

Moreover, all licensees

process

of

sending

daily

comfortably met the additional 10 per cent
capital charge on their foreign exchange

a working group was formed to

exposures, which was implemented in

explore possible solutions for a Real

September 2000.

Time Gross Settlement (RTGS)
system;
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a systematic process was developed

Capital Market Development

for collection of payments system data

During the fiscal year 2000/2001, the

and new statistical forms would be

Central Bank initiated a Capital Market

included in the commercial banks’

Project with the dual objectives of

reporting system in the next financial

assessing the status of capital market

year; and,

activities in Trinidad and Tobago and
arriving at a strategic framework for

discussions were advanced with the

capital market reform and development.

Treasury Division of the Ministry of

In this regard, a one-day capital markets

Finance to broaden the use of

seminar was hosted jointly by the Central

electronic transactions, thereby

Bank, the Trinidad and Tobago Stock

minimising the use of paper-based

Exchange and the Inter-American

instruments.

Development Bank on December 15,
2000 at the Central Bank’s Conference

The Bank also proposed an amendment

Facilities. Entitled Building A Strategic

to the FIA to explicitly recognise its

Framework

responsibility for the oversight of the

Development in T&T - The Way Forward

payment systems.

for

Capital

Market

Meanwhile, the

this seminar served as a first step

commercial banks have been spearheading

towards assessing the structural

efforts for the introduction of an

inefficiencies in the market as well as the

Automated Clearing House and an

opportunities and strengths present in

Automated Credit Bureau.

the system to effectively treat with these
inefficiencies.

(i)

Developments in Payment Media

All commercial banks except one had

In May 2001, the Bank convened a

withdrawn the guarantee facility on

Capital Markets Engagement Team

personal chequing accounts by December

comprising representatives from the

31, 2000. Among the reasons cited by the

major stakeholder groups in the domestic

Bankers’ Association for this action were

capital market and the IADB. On May

the increased incidence of cheque fraud

9-10 the members of the Engagement

and the international trend to non-paper

Team met under the banner of Building

based payment options. The Association

A Strategic Framework for Capital Markets

proffered that there were alternative means

Development in T&T - Moving from Reality

of making payments at cheaper cost.

to Vision.

During the two-day work

sessions, the Engagement Team was
A wider range of electronic commerce

successful in developing a strategic

facilities was offered to the public in the

framework for capital market reform and

year.

On December 1, 2000, one

for positioning Trinidad and Tobago as

commercial bank launched Cardpoint

the financial centre of the Caribbean.

Merchant Service, a facility which allows

These activities of the Bank culminated

the bank to process on-line transactions

in the establishment of a Joint Central

from the merchant’s website in a secure

Bank/Ministry of Finance Capital Market

environment.

In March 2001, another

Committee by the Minister of Finance to

commercial bank introduced a suite of e-

develop proposals for re-structuring the

banking products thereby promoting the

domestic capital markets.

use

Reform Program for Strengthening the

of

more

mechanisms.

automated

payment

Entitled A

Trinidad and Tobago Capital Market, the

21

report of the Joint Central Bank/Ministry

in 1983 and continued to execute the

of Finance Committee was presented to the

residual functions of the CMCF.

Minister of Finance on November 13, 2001.

principal activities were related to the

The

settlement transactions of the debtor
participant, Guyana. A total of US$11.4

REGIONAL FINANCIAL
ARRANGEMENTS

million in principal and interest was paid
and distributed to creditors. No decision
has been made with regard to providing

G

uyana continued to make

additional relief under the Enhanced

scheduled interest payments on

Heavily Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC)

the basis of the restructured

Initiative sponsored by the IMF/World

loan terms of 1999. Interest amounting

Bank.

to US$11.5 million was paid in the period
October 2000 to September 2001. Under
the terms of the loan, repayment of the
principal of US$176.9 million will

CARICOM CENTRAL BANK
GOVERNORS’ MEETINGS

commence in November 2002.

extended in October 1990. The final loan

T

payment of US$417.7 thousand was made

meetings are held twice annually and the

on October 16, 2000.

host country is rotated on an annual basis

In the context of Nicaragua’s efforts to re-

in alphabetical order. The meetings are

organise its debt obligations, new

usually held in May and November of each

proposals were discussed with the Central

year. The May 2001 meetings were held

Bank of Nicaragua for the repayment of a

at the Hilton Hotel on the island of Tobago.

The Central Bank of Barbados made final
repayment on a loan of US$5.7 million

he Bank hosted the 2001
meetings of CARICOM Central
Bank

Governors

and

the

Committee of Central Bank Governors. The

loan extended as part of a regional initiative
by member Central Banks of CEMLA. The

The meeting of CARICOM Central Bank

debt as at June 30, 2001 totalled US$1.9

Governors is an opportunity for Governors

million.

to discuss matters of shared interests in
the area of central banking, developments

(i)

in bank regulation, monetary policy issues,
the Caribbean Centre for Monetary Studies

The Bank continued to act as the Agent

(CCMS) 2 , developments at multilateral

for the CARICOM Multilateral Clearing

institutions, training and other matters

Facility (CMCF) which ceased operations

related to interbank co-operation.

2
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CARICOM Multilateral Clearing
Facility

The CCMS was formally established by the eight CARICOM Central Banks in May 1995 in co-operation with the University of the West Indies. It
is the successor institution to the Regional Monetary Studies Programme which was established in 1968.
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The Committee of Central Bank Governors

the Monetary Policy Report which will be

was established in 1992 as a subsidiary

published biannually. The Report aims

body to the Council of Finance and

to explain the Bank’s monetary stability

Planning (COFAP) of CARICOM3 to advise

objective, and seeks to clarify the actions

the Heads of Government on matters

taken to achieve this objective.

related to monetary co-operation, payment
arrangements, free movement of capital,

In recent times, with the aid of improved

integration of capital markets and other

information and computer technologies,

related matters in the context of the

the Department has introduced changes

objective of creating a single market and

in both the format and dissemination of

currency.

The Committee, with the

economic and financial data. The format

assistance of the CCMS, reports to the

of the Monthly Statistical Digest (MSD),

Heads of Government on progress towards

which previously published five years of

Caribbean Monetary Union.

annual data and a running thirteen
months of monthly data, has been

An important item on the agenda of the

changed to a landscape format presenting

May 2001 meeting was the discussion of a

the five year series as well as a running

Report on the Reconsideration of Caribbean

monthly series of thirty-seven months.

Monetary Union. This Report had been

The Economic Bulletin (EB), previously the

requested by the Prime Minister of

Quarterly Economic Bulletin (QEB), is now

Barbados in his capacity as Prime Minister

available three times a year in May, August

with lead responsibility for the CARICOM

and November.

Single Market and Economy (CSME) and

expanded Statistical Digest, presenting a

Monetary Union. The Report was tabled

wide array of statistics for the five year

at the recently concluded Heads of

period to December 2000, was published

Government Meeting which was held in

in June 2001. This report replaces the

Nassau, The Bahamas in July 2001.

Quarterly Statistical Digest (QSD) and will

The first issue of an

be published in June and December of
Governors of Haiti, Aruba and the

each year.

Dominican Republic also attended the May
2001 meetings by special invitation. Haiti

As the Department maximises the use of

is expected to be accorded full member

available new technologies, electronic

status in CARICOM after the relevant

versions of the Annual Economic Survey

instruments of accession have been

(AES), MSD, EB, the Monetary Policy

completed.

Report and the recently expanded
Statistical Digest are now distributed to
internal and external users on request and

PUBLICATIONS

several of the data sets are also available
on the Bank’s website.

D

In addition, the

uring the review period the

Recent Economic Developments (RED)

Research Department continued

report, previously an internal document,

to implement important changes

is made available to external users in

to its information compilation and
dissemination strategy.

electronic form.

In August the

Department introduced the first issue of

3

The current membership of CARICOM comprises Antigua and Barbuda, The Bahamas, Barbados, Belize, Dominica, Grenada, Guyana, Jamaica,
Montserrat, St. Kitts-Nevis, St. Lucia, St. Vincent, Suriname and Trinidad and Tobago.

23

ADMINISTRATION

2001 and consists of six (6) staff members:
a Strategic Programme Coordinator, Senior

Organisational Structure

T

Operations Officer, Human Resource

he organisational chart for the

Officer,

Bank is shown at Appendix II.

Information Technology Officer and a

During the year,

Secretary.

two vacant

Communications

Officer,

management positions were filled
internally – Mr. Faizool Mohammed was

This Unit has the overall responsibility to

appointed

coordinate

Manager,

Finance

and

and

promote

the

Accounting Department effective July 2,

implementation of the transformation

2001 and Ms. Suzanne Roach was

programme to meet the strategic objectives

appointed Manager, Internal Audit

of the Bank.

Department on September 3, 2001. Dr.

mandate the primary objectives of the Unit

Penelope Forde, Manager, Research

have been identified as follows:

In order to achieve its

Department, was assigned to the Office of
the Governor in the capacity of Advisor to

to drive and coordinate the Bank’s

the Governor for the period March 12,

transformation programme including

2001 to March 11, 2002. Mr. Charles de

the strategic projects and related

Silva, Senior Economist, was therefore

criteria;

appointed Acting Manager for the same

define and monitor standards for

period. The portfolio of Ms. Joan John,

effective management and consistent

Senior Manager, Research and Policy, was

reporting; and,

A Knowledge
Management policy was
instituted.

changed to Senior Manager, Financial
Systems Infrastructure effective March 12,

provide shared services to promote

2001.

administrative efficiencies.

Against the background of a changing

The Bank held workshops to sensitise the

financial and economic environment the

broad management about the principles

Bank heightened emphasis on its strategic

of transformation management, the

orientation. The Bank had earlier begun

transformation programme, the impact of

to focus attention on transforming the

culture on transformation and to clarify

organisation and a number of projects were

the roles of all groups in the process.

in train. As part of a more comprehensive

Arising from these workshops, a

approach, these projects were brought

Transformation Programme Charter for the

within a single coordinating unit.

Bank was developed. This Charter
identifies and outlines the projects which
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The Transformation Unit was formed

will achieve the Bank’s strategic

within the Office of the Governor in March

imperatives. Additionally, the objectives
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of the Charter are to provide the Bank with

Enhancement of the Financial System

a blueprint for transformation and to act

Infrastructure

as the transformation road map, defining
the scope, objectives, projects and

Improvement

timeframes.

Development Framework

of

the

Policy

Five major objectives of the transformation

The structure and composition of several

were identified:

departments were modified to enable them
to fulfil the new strategic direction. The

Achieving the highest international

Bank

standards and best practices in

consultancy firms to facilitate the re-

accounting, audit, financial systems

organisation of key areas. In the Bank

supervision, payments, clearance and

Inspection Department, an Integrated

settlements systems and other areas.

Financial Sector Supervision Project Unit

engaged

several

external

was established in furtherance of the
Enhancing the Bank’s responsibility

integration of the supervision of insurance

with respect to supervising and

companies and pension plans with the

regulating the financial system and

banking and non-banking institutions

the development of the capital market

already supervised by the Bank. As at

in Trinidad and Tobago.

September 30, 2001, the unit comprised
ten (10) professional staff members.

Establishing appropriate technology
platforms such as the inter-bank

The Internal Audit Department was

market infrastructure.

reorganized and is now operating with a
focus

on

business

process

risk

Most effective use of the Bank’s

assessment. It is also the intention to work

human resources to maintain the

with external service providers to deliver

highest

specialised audit services. Consequently,

level

of

professional

excellence.

the staff composition of this department
was streamlined.

The Investment

Strengthening the management

Management

capability to respond to change and

restructured with a view to enhancing the

produce

foreign reserve management function, the

timely

and

effective

deliverables.

Department

was

inter-bank market for foreign exchange
and open market operations.

Emerging out of this enunciation of the
direction for change, the following five (5)

The Bank engaged the services of an

strategic imperatives were adopted:

advisor, Mr. Kevin Clinton, to support the
Monetary Policy and Research function.

Building of Corporate Governance

His services are being provided under
technical assistance from the International

Strengthening of the Financial Sector

Monetary Fund.

including the Legal and Regulatory

Research Adviser at the International

Framework

Department of the Bank of Canada. Mr.

He was previously

Clinton’s assignment is initially for one
Redesign of Market Operations

year, from April 17, 2001.
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(i)

Human Resources

67 programmes, which were pursued

The Bank’s staff complement declined by

locally and overseas, were attended by a

one to three hundred and eighty-six (386)

total of 234 participants. Programmes to

employees as at September 30, 2001. A

upgrade computer skills throughout the

total of sixteen (16) employees (comprising

Bank continued on an on-going basis.

fourteen (14) professional and two (2)
associate staff) joined the Bank on a

Eleven persons, comprising mainly

contractual basis, while seventeen (17)

professional staff, participated in

members of staff were separated from the

conferences in the areas of bank

Bank.

supervision, information technology and

The latter included Mr. Rennie

Guevara, who proceeded on early

monetary management.

retirement leave on February 15, 2001,
after having served the Bank as a

Fifteen persons were granted loans under

Chauffeur for twenty-three (23) years. Mr.

the Study Incentive Programme to embark

Anston Rambarran, Economist II, was

on studies relevant to work in the Bank,

seconded to the International Monetary

while thirteen members of staff utilised the

Fund (IMF) as a Technical Assistant in the

Professional Fees facility to assist with

office of the Executive Director for a two-

their educational development.

year period effective April 2001.

As at September 30, 2001, the Bank’s staff

CORPORATE RELATIONS

comprised the Governor, one (1) Deputy

professionals, one hundred and eighty-

T

eight (188) associate staff and seventy-one

internal and external publics. During the

(71) security personnel.

year, the Corporate Relations Unit carried

Governor, Inspector of Banks, two (2)
Senior Managers, eleven (11) Managers,
one

hundred

and

eleven

(111)

he Bank is in the process of
strengthening its Corporate
Relations function to develop

further its relationship with both its

out a range of activities including the

(ii)

Training and Development

administrative support to management,

skills

through

events management of official functions,

and

capabilities

several

protocol services and co-ordination of

functionalities in the Bank, including

activities held at the Auditorium and

portfolio management, auditing, bank

Conference facilities.

supervision, information technology and

Relations Unit also continued to supervise

human resource management. During the

the currency museum and execute

period October 2000 – September 2001,

numismatic requests made to the Bank.

programmes
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communication of current events to staff,

The Bank continued to develop employee
relevant

to

The Corporate
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and a lecture on the role and functions of

The Bank is developing an Internal

the Bank. ‘The Bank also continued its

Communications Plan. For this purpose

visits to schools to share insights on

a Focus Group was formed, comprising

economic and monetary matters.

staff members from each department. Two
of the recommendations were implemented

The Bank organised several cultural events

in the current period.

The internal

during the year. In that regard, the Bank

publication Staff Update was revised to

hosted a Divali presentation entitled

incorporate the Group’s recommendations

Krishna Avatar, a dance drama based on

for improving the information flow to staff

the descent of Lord Krishna on October

about current and historical activities of

24, 2000.

interest. An Intranet service was developed

Trinidad and Tobago Police Band livened

as an integral element of the new

up the Plaza with its calypso beat in

communications environment, enabling

celebration of the Bank’s Carnival

staff to access a common information set.

presentation, and on July 25, 2001 the

This facility allows staff access to

Bank hosted its Emancipation programme

information on staff benefits, the

which was entitled Irin Ajo To Jin - Long

Governor’s

Journey showcasing music, dance and

speeches,

economic

publications, press releases and other

On February 16, 2001, the

drama.

relevant matters.
In keeping with the Bank’s philosophy of

(ii)

External Programme

honouring

the

work

and

lifelong

Enhancement of the Central Bank’s Web

commitment to nation building by the late

Site (www.central-bank.org.tt), to provide

Prime Minister, Dr. Eric Williams, the

greater

external

Fifteenth Dr. Eric Williams Memorial

communications strategy and to improve

Lecture was held on March 23, 2001. The

data and information dissemination, began

featured speaker, Professor Amartya Sen,

towards the end of the financial year. A

Nobel Laureate 1998, Master, Trinity

main objective of the improvements is to

College, Cambridge, United Kingdom,

increase the focus on user needs. It is

delivered on the topic Identity and Justice.

support

for

the

expected that by making relevant
information more easily accessible on-line,

(iii) Financial Journalism Workshop

requests for data by the traditional means

In recognition of the increasingly important

such as telephone and fax would be

role played by the media in terms of

reduced. Accordingly, greater emphasis

relaying signals among various market

will be given to the quantity, quality and

participants within a liberalised economy,

currency of information as well as the ways

the Bank conducted a Workshop aimed

and formats in which visitors can access

at developing and refining the technical

information.

and analytical skills of media professionals
working in the fields of economic and

The Bank continued its educational

business news reporting. The five-day

outreach programme. Fifteen school tours,

Workshop which was held in conjuction

largely for vocational schools in age groups

with the UWI – Institute of Business and

ranging from 16 to 20 years, were

the Reuters Foundation placed special

conducted. Each tour consisted of a visit

emphasis on the evaluation of company

to the Bank’s numismatic collection, the

performance, international trade and

viewing of a slide presentation on the Bank

financial markets. Two instructors from
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the Reuters Foundation facilitated the

delivered by Professor Michael McQueen,

Workshop which included a session led

Head of the Department of Journalism and

by Mr. Charles de Silva of the Research

Communication at Florida International

Department on the Bank’s published

University, on Wednesday June 13, 2001.

documents.

(iv) Auditorium and Conference Facilities
The Workshop attracted thirteen (13)

The Bank continued to make the

participants from the media sector in

Auditorium available to the public at

Trinidad and Tobago and Barbados, six

subsidised rates as part of its contribution

participants from the local banking sector

to the national community.

and one participant from the UWI –

Auditorium was heavily booked for

Institute of Business.

engagements by both members of the

The

performing arts and the Bank’s internal
As part of that week’s activities, the Bank

public. There was also great demand for

and the UWI – Institute of Business also

use of the Conference Facilities by the

hosted an open lecture entitled The New,

business community.

New Journalism: Friend or Foe of Ethics,
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inancial Statements of the Bank

As at September 30, 2001, total liabilities

for the year ended September 30,

of the Bank stood at $13.7 billion,

2001 with comparative figures for

increasing from $11 billion at the end of

the previous year are shown on pages 35

the previous financial year.

to 44.

liabilities increased by $1.6 billion over the

Demand

previous year’s level to $10.5 billion. While

Highlights

deposits by commercial banks grew by

The Bank achieved an improved financial

19.1 per cent to $3.2 billion, the most

performance for the year ended September

significant increase occurred in the other

30, 2001 with assets and liabilities growing

deposits category, which rose by 23 per

by 23 per cent when compared to the

cent to $5.1 billion. The significant change

position at the end of the 1999-2000

resulted primarily from higher levels of

financial year.

Government deposit balances.

The Surplus before

Other

‘Depreciation and Other Provisions’

liabilities showed a net increase of $1

widened by 48.4 per cent to $404.9 million

billion over the previous year’s position

and the Bank transferred a surplus of

largely because of a higher level of open

$135.3 million to the Consolidated Fund

market operations activities.

of the Government, $54.2 million more
than the previous year.

In accordance with the statutory
provisions of Section 28(c) of the Central

Balance Sheet

Bank (Amendment) Act, 1994, the Bank

Total assets of the Bank at September 30,

transferred $16.4 million to the Paid-Up

2001 stood at $13.9 billion, increasing by

Capital of the Bank bringing the total

23 per cent from a year earlier. External

Paid-Up Capital to the authorised limit of

assets as a component of total assets

$100 million. The provisions require the

represented 91.7 per cent or $12.7 billion.

Bank to transfer annually, an amount of

During the period 1996 to 2000-2001 there

not less than 15 per cent of its annual net

was a steady growth in the Bank’s total

surplus to the Paid-Up Capital, subject to

assets.

an overall limit of its Authorised Capital

Comparison of Bank’s Total Assets 1997-2001
$M

1998-Nine Month Period - Due to Change in FY
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Breakdown of Income
2000-2001

of $100 million. In addition, the Bank

Expenditure

transferred $16.9 million to the General

Gross Expenditure totalled $277.4 million,

Reserve Fund in accordance with Section

representing an increase of $78.9 million

29(3) which empowers the Bank to allocate

over the previous year’s level of $198.5

an amount to the reserve that does not

million. This growth in expenditure was

exceed 10 per cent of the net surplus for

primarily due to higher interest payments

any financial year. The total of this reserve

given the increased deposits held for the

now stands at $84.8 million.

Government.

Interest

payments

represented 60.6 per cent of expenditure

Income

while operating expenses accounted for

Gross Income of the Bank for the year to

28.6 per cent.

September 30, 2001 increased to $682.2
million or 44.7 per cent over the 1999-2000

After provisions for depreciation ($15.0

level, with interest on foreign currency

million) and, contingency provisions

assets accounting for more than 71.8 per

($221.2 million), a net surplus of $135.3

cent of gross income. Income from foreign

million was realized and was transferred

currency assets was dominated by income

to the Consolidated Fund of the

earned on US Dollar assets which

Government in accordance with Section

represented 67.7 per cent of Gross Income.

29 of the Central Bank (Amendment) Act,
1994.
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BALANCE SHEET
as at September 30 2001
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

ASSETS
NOTE

Sept. 30

Sept. 30

2001

2000

$000

$000

10,318,711
2,137,877
84,214

6,239,721
3,069,228
84,346

765
57,833
110,005
12,709,405

864
78,688
110,005
9,582,852

194,118
48,259
645,696
888,073
263,813
13,861,291

395,555
114,753
925,234
1,435,542
272,830
11,291,224

1,425,118
75,333
3,224,059
514,113
168,869
5,138,715
10,546,207

1,291,444
70,228
2,708,039
513,448
155,830
4,178,717
8,917,706

357,900

382,745

135,326
2,024,985
612,087
3,130,298

81,109
1,246,771
392,648
2,103,273

100,000
84,786

83,585
67,926

0

118,734

184,786

270,245

13,861,291

11,291,224

EXTERNAL ASSETS
Foreign Currency Deposits
US Dollar Securities
Other Foreign Currency Securities
International Monetary Fund - Holdings
of Special Drawing Rights
Foreign Interest Receivable
Subscription to Int’l Financial Institutions

OTHER ASSETS
Trinidad and Tobago Dollar Securities
(cost $194,118,452)
Net Pension Asset
Other

3

FIXED ASSETS

4

LIABILITIES, CAPITAL AND RESERVES
DEMAND LIABILITIES
Notes in Circulation
Coins in Circulation
Deposits by Commercial Banks
Deposits by (Non-Banking) Financial Institutions
Deposits in Foreign Currencies
Other Deposits

OTHER LIABILITIES
International Monetary Fund - Allocation of

Special Drawing Rights
Provision for payment into the
Consolidated Fund
Other
Provision for Contingencies

5

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Capital: Authorised $100,000,000
Issued and fully paid-up
General Reserve Fund
Pension Reserve Fund

6
7

The attached notes form an integral part of the Accounts.

Governor

Deputy Governor
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STATEMENT OF EARNINGS
for the year ended September 30 2001
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
Sept. 30

Sept. 30

$000

$000

20,236

21,649

461,942

330,628

7,888

6,885

42,581
149,577
682,224

29,367
82,885
471,414

30,082
168,089
79,199
277,370

25,174
90,915
82,389
198,478

404,854

272,936

15,010
221,243
168,601
16,415
16,860

15,763
149,027
108,146
16,222
10,815

135,326

81,109

2001

NOTE

2000

INCOME
Interest on Sterling Balances and
Securities
Interest on U.S. Dollar Balances and
Securities
Interest on Other Foreign Currency Balances
and Securities
Interest on Trinidad and Tobago Dollar
Securities
Other Income
TOTAL INCOME

LESS EXPENDITURE
Printing, Minting and Other Expenses on
Notes and Coins
Interest Paid
Other Operating Expenses
TOTAL EXPENDITURE

8

SURPLUS BEFORE DEPRECIATION AND OTHER
PROVISIONS
Less: Provision for depreciation
Other Provisions
Transfer to Paid Up Capital
Transfer to General Reserve

NET SURPLUS

The attached notes form an integral part of the Accounts.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended September 30 2001
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)
Sept. 30

Sept. 30

2001

2000

$000

$000

135,326

81,109

15,010
(25)
94
16,860
16,415
183,680

15,763
(70)
13
10,815
16,222
123,852

International Monetary Fund Holding
of Special Drawing Rights
Overseas Securities
T&T Government Securities
Additions to Fixed Assets
Proceeds from Disposal of Fixed Assets
Foreign Interest
Net Pension Assets
Other Assets
Net Cash used by Investing Activities

99
931,483
201,437
(6,144)
82
20,855
66,494
279,538
1,493,844

232
72,480
(15,629)
(5,709)
70
(13,454)
(114,753)
37,757
(39,006)

Payment to Treasury
Notes and Coins in Circulation
Deposits by Non Financial Institutions
Deposits of Commercial Banks
Deposits by International Monetary Fund
Other Deposits
Foreign Liabilities
Other Liabilities
Pension Reserve
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

(81,109)
138,779
665
516,020
(24,845)
959,998
13,039
997,653
(118,734)
2,401,466

(75,888)
49,985
14,790
(216,502)
(9,602)
2,764,793
6,065
387,313
118,734
3,039,688

4,078,990
6,239,721
10,318,711
10,318,711

3,124,534
3,115,187
6,239,721
6,239,721

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Profit for the Year
Adjustment to reconcile net profit
for the year to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Transfer to General Reserve
Transfer to Paid up Capital
Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash
Cash at Beginning of Year
Cash at End of Year
Balances held abroad
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Notes to Financial Statements
for the period ended September 30 2001

1.

INCORPORATION AND
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

prepared in accordance with

The Central Bank of Trinidad and

International

Tobago was established as a body

Standards Committee (IASC) and

corporate in 1964 under the Central

interpretations issued by the

Bank Act (Chapter 79:02) (The Act)

Standing

with its principal purpose being the

Committee of the IASC and the

promotion of such monetary credit

requirements of the Central

and exchange conditions as are most

Bank Act (Chapter 79:02).

Standards

issued

by

the

Accounting

Interpretations

favourable to the development of the
economy of Trinidad and Tobago. The

The preparation of the Financial

Bank has the exclusive right to issue

Statements in conformity with

and redeem currency notes and coins

the IASC requires management

in Trinidad and Tobago and is

to

empowered, inter alia, to act as

assumptions that affect the

banker for, and render economic,

reported amount of assets and

financial and monetary advice to the

liabilities and disclosure of

Government of Trinidad & Tobago;

contingent assets and liabilities

open accounts for and accept deposits

at the date of the Financial

from

Statements and the reported

the

Government,

local

make

estimates

and

Government, statutory bodies,

amounts

commercial banks and other financial

expenses during the period.

of

revenue

and

institutions; purchase from, sell and
discount, bills of exchange and

(b) Fixed Assets - Depreciation

promissory notes on behalf of, and

Fixed Assets are recorded at cost

make

above

of acquisition less accumulated

institutions; purchase and sell foreign

depreciation. Additions or

currencies and securities of other

improvements to assets which

Governments and international

significantly add to the value of

financial institutions.

or extend the useful life of such

advances

to

the

assets are capitalised as part of

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of Accounting

the cost.

When an asset is

retired or sold the cost and

The financial statements are

accumulated depreciation are

prepared on the historical cost

extracted from the respective

convention and no account has

accounts and the gain or loss is

been taken of the effects of

dealt with in the Earnings

inflation in these accounts. The

Statement.

Financial Statements have been

charged on a straight-line basis,

Depreciation is

39

as follows:

notes is written off as an expense
in the year of receipt of such

Furniture

10% - 12 1/2%

notes while the cost of minting

Fixtures & Fittings

2%

coins is written off as an expense

Motor Vehicles

33 1/3%

over a period of five (5) years.
With effect from October 1, 2001

Machinery &
Equipment

12 1/2% - 33 1/3%

the cost of printing notes and

Leasehold Properties

over the period of

minting coins will be expensed

the lease

when issued to the banking
sector.

Central Bank Building 2%
Library Books

10%

(f)
(c) Foreign Currencies
Assets

Bad and Doubtful Debts
Pursuant to Section 29 of the

and

Liabilities

Central Bank (Amendment) Act,

Foreign

1994, provision is made in the

Currencies are recorded at book

Accounts for bad and doubtful

rates established by the Bank

debts.

during the year.

denominated

in

In this regard, the

At Balance

relevant assets are shown net of

Sheet date they are converted at

an amount, which in the opinion

market rates of exchange for the

of the Directors, is required as a

particular currency in terms of

specific provision.

the TT Dollar. Changes in fair
values are recognised in the

(g) Employee Benefits

Income Statement for the period.

On October 1, 1999 the Bank

During the year foreign currency

implemented IAS 19 (Revised

transactions are translated into

1998) – Employee Benefits,

Trinidad and Tobago dollars at

which prescribes the accounting

the exchange rates ruling at the

and disclosure requirements of

date of the transactions. Gains

employee benefits.

or Losses on exchange which
arise from normal trading

(h) Pension Obligations

activities are included in the

The Bank operates a defined

determination of Income.

benefit final salary pension plan,
the assets of which are held in a

(d) Securities

separate trustee-administered

Securities are shown at market

scheme.

value. Non quoted securities are

accounting costs are assessed

shown at the lower of cost and

using the projected unit credit

market

no

method and under this method,

distinction is made between

the cost of providing pensions is

current and long-term assets,

charged to the Income Statement

securities are regarded as being

so as to spread the regular cost

available for current operations,

over

if required.

employees in accordance with

value.

While

the

(e)

40

the

The

service

advice

of

scheme’s

lives

of

actuaries.

Printing and Minting Expenses

Valuations are carried out every

The cost of printing currency

three years, with the last being

CENTRAL BANK OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO
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recognised as income or expense
when

the
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for on an accrual basis.

3.

OTHER ASSETS
Other Assets include:

cumulative

unrecognised actuarial gain or

2000

2001

loss exceeds the greater of 10%

$000

$000

of the defined benefit obligation
and 10% of the fair value of the
plan assets.

(i)

Income and Expenses
All significant items of Income
and Expenditure are accounted

4.

212,051
142,749
55,857
474,185
40,391

Finance Lease
Loans
Stock of Notes and Coins
Items in the process of Collection
Other

195,202
107,625
29,990
283,536
29,343

925,234

Total Other Assets

645,696

FIXED ASSETS

Furniture,
Motor
Fixtures
&
Long
Short
Vehicles,
Land &
Lease
Lease Machinery & Fittings,
Other
Buildings Property Property Equipment
$’000

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

339,537
339,537

3,597
27
(1)
3,623

92
92

71,285
4,084
(8)
(5,363)
69,998

25,641
2,041
(66)
27,616

440,152
6,152
(8)
(5,430)
440,866

101,012
6,734
107,746

979
116
(1)
1,094

92
92

51,660
6,956
(5,207)
53,409

13,579
1,197
(64)
14,712

167,322
15,003
(5,272)
177,053

231,791

2,529

-

16,589

12,904

263,813

238,525

2,618

-

19,625

12,062

272,830

COST
At September 30, 2000
Additions (Expenditure at cost)
Adjustment at September 30, 2000
Disposals during the year
At September 30, 2001

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At September 30, 2000
Provision for the year
Disposals during the year
At September 30, 2001

NET BOOK VALUES
At September 30, 2001

NET BOOK VALUES
At September 30, 2000

5.

PROVISIONS

In addition to specific provisions for

The Bank follows a policy of providing

bad and doubtful debts which have

for all known and foreseeable

been provided for, the Bank has also

expenditure or losses in the accounts.

adopted a prudential approach of

41

funds to provide for adverse trading

OTHER PROVISIONS - EARNINGS
STATEMENT

developments that may arise from its

Provisions are made within the

activities.

meaning of Section 29 of the Central

provisioning to preserve sufficient

9.

Bank (Amendment) Act, 1994 and

6.

ISSUED & FULLY PAID-UP
CAPITAL

comprise the following:

Provision is made in Section 28(c) of

2000

2001

the Central Bank (Amendment) Act,

$000

$000

1994 for the Paid-Up Capital of the
Bank to be increased each year by

91,420
57,607

an amount of not less than fifteen per
cent (15%) of the amount to be paid
into the Consolidated Fund. For the

Provisions
Depreciation of Foreign

221,243

Balances & Securities
149,027

-

Total Provisions

221,243

year ended September 30, 2001 the
Paid-Up Capital was increased by an
amount

of

$16,415,000

10. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

to

Paid-Up General Profit &
Capital Reserve Loss A/c.
$000 $000
$000

$100,000,000.

7.

GENERAL RESERVE FUND
Pursuant to Section 29 of the Central
Bank (Amendment) Act, 1994 the
Bank may place in the General
Reserve Fund or the Special Reserve
Fund, or in both, an amount not
exceeding 10 per cent of the Net Profit
of the Bank for a financial year. An
amount of $16,860,000 equivalent to
10 per cent, was credited to the
General Reserve Fund for the year
ended September 30, 2001.

8.

Balance at September 30 2000 83,585
Profit for the year before
Appropriation
Transfer to Paid-Up Capital
16,415
Transfer to General Reserves
Payment to Consolidated Fund
Balance at September 30, 2001 100,000

67,926

81,109

16,860
84,786

168,601
(16,415)
(16,860)
(81,109)
135,326

11. TAXATION
Section 55 of the Central Bank Act
Chapter 79:02 exempts the Bank from
the provisions of any Act relating to

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Other Operating Expenses include:

income taxation, company taxation
and from the payment of stamp duties.

12. PENSION PLAN
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2000

2001

$000

$000

55,380
4,758
1,006
2,115
7,212
11,917

Staff Costs
Utilities
Insurance
Computer Services
Maintenance
Other

46,456
4,917
1,375
3,712
7,716
15,023

82,389

Total Other Operating Expenses

79,199

The amounts recognised in the
Balance Sheet are as follows:

Defined Benefit Obligation
Fair Value of Assets
Unrecognised gains/(Loss)
Un-utilized Assets
Net IAS 19 Defined Liability
/(Asset)

Year End
30/09/00
$000

Year End
30/09/01
$000

103,231
(259,176)
(155,945)
13,089
28,103

100,854
(278,628)
(177,774)
19,484
110,031

(114,753)

(48,259)

CENTRAL BANK OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

IAS 19 requires the financial assumptions
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13. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

used in the calculation of the Net Pension

There

Asset to be based on market expectations

commitments for capital expenditure

were

no

outstanding

ensuring that they are neither imprudent

at September 30, 2001 (2000 - NIL).

or excessively conservative. Consequently,
the annual rate of salary increase was

14. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

adjusted from 7 per cent to 6 per cent.

Contingent Liabilities have arisen in

This had the effect of reducing the Net

the normal course of business. These

Pension Asset at September 30, 2000 of

comprise several High Court actions

$114.7 million to $48.3 million at

brought against the Bank for which

September 30, 2001.

unspecified damages have been
claimed.

Reconciliation of Opening and
Closing Defined Benefit Assets
1999/2000 2000/2001
$000
$000
Opening Defined Asset
(118,734)
Plus Pension Cost
5,252
Less Bank Contribution Paid
(1,271)
Closing Defined Asset
(114,753)

(114,753)
67,707
(1,213)
(48,259)

The majority of these

matters have not yet been listed for
hearing and consequently it is not
possible to quantify an amount for
damages at this time as these matters
are not likely to be settled in the
forseeable future.

15. RELATED ENTERPRISES
Section 36 (g) of the Central Bank Act,
Chapter 79:02 empowers the Bank

The amounts recognised in the

with the approval of the Minister of

Income Statement are as follows:

Finance, to acquire, hold and sell

1999/2000 2000/2001
$000
$000
Current Service Cost
3,096
2,838
Interest on Defined Benefit Obligation 8,434
8,771
Expected Return on Plan Assets
(22,862) (25,830)
Movement in Un-utilised Assets
16,584
81,928
Net Pension Cost
_5,252 _67,707

shares or other securities of any
statutory body or company registered
under the Companies Ordinance, for
the purpose of promoting the
development of a money or securities
market in Trinidad and Tobago or for
financing the economic development
of Trinidad and Tobago. The Bank has
investments

Return on Plan Assets

22,862
8,426
31,288

two

related

enterprises, which are shown at cost

1999/2000 2000/2001
$000
$000
Expected Return on Plan Assets
Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on Plan Assets
Actual Return on Plan Assets

in

25,830
(4,588)
21,242

in the Financial Statements.

(a) Deposit Insurance
Corporation
The Central Bank holds the total
Issued Capital of the Deposit

Actuarial Assumptions
Discount rate
Expected return on Plan Assets
Projected future rate of salary increase
Value of Pension Scheme Assets

8.5% – 9.5%
10%
6%
Market value at
Balance Sheet date

Insurance Corporation (the
Corporation) in the amount of
$1,000,000. The Accounts of
the

Corporation

are

not

consolidated with the Bank’s
Accounts

because

the

operations, control, assets and
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liabilities of the Corporation are

Capital of $5,000,000 of the Unit

governed by the provisions of the

Trust Corporation.

Central Bank Act and Financial
Institutions (Non-Banking)
(Amendment) Act, 1986. A

16. STATEMENT ON ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES

financial

The Bank, to the best of its

statements are prepared and

knowledge, has accounted for all its

published annually by the

assets and liabilities at September 30,

Corporation.

2001. There are no material mis-

separate

set

of

statements of the Bank’s assets and

(b) Unit Trust Corporation
The Bank has an investment of
$2,500,000 in the initial Issued
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liabilities.

Appendix I
Guidelines on Money Laundering
for Institutions Licensed under the Financial
Institutions Act, 1993

CENTRAL BANK OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Definition

assistance to a person in the

1.

The term Money Laundering covers

course of drug trafficking shall not

all procedures designed to change the

be treated as consideration for

identity of money obtained from the

these purposes.
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proceeds of drug trafficking, so that
it appears to have originated from a

Where a licensee or its employee

legitimate source.

discloses to a police officer a
suspicion or belief that any

The Dangerous Drugs Act 1991 as

property wholly or partially

amended in 1994 outlines the

represents another person’s

circumstances in which a licensee

proceeds of drug trafficking, or

and/or its employees shall be

discloses to a police officer any

guilty of the offence of money

matter on which such suspicion or

laundering. This will occur where

belief is based, the disclosure is not

they conceal, disguise, convert,

treated as a breach of any duty of

transfer or dispose of property or

confidentiality owed by the licensee

remove it from the jurisdiction

to its customers. If the licensee

where

have

does any of the above acts in

reasonable grounds to suspect that

they

know,

or

contravention of the legislation, no

the property or any part of it,

offence is committed if the

directly or indirectly represents

disclosure is made before the act

another person’s proceeds of drug

is done, and the act is done with

trafficking.

the consent of the police, or, if the
disclosure is made after the act is

Licensees and their employees

done, but on the initiative of the

shall also be liable where they

licensee.

conceal,

dispose,

disguise,

transfer, bring into or remove from

The licensee or its employee has a

Trinidad and Tobago any money or

further defence if it can be proved

other property with the knowledge

that there was an intention to

of or having reasonable grounds to

disclose the suspicion, belief or

suspect that the money or the

other matter to the police and that

property is derived, obtained or

there is a reasonable excuse for the

realised directly or indirectly from

failure to make such disclosure

drug trafficking or where knowing

before the act took place. With

or having reasonable grounds to

regard to employees of licensees,

suspect that the money or property

if the disclosure is made to the

is so derived, they receive, possess

appropriate person within the

or convert that money or the

licensee’s establishment, in

property.

accordance with procedures
established by the licensee for the

It shall be a defence if the licensee

making of such disclosures, this

or its employee acquires the

is regarded as having the same

property

adequate

effect as a disclosure or an

consideration. However, the

intended disclosure to a police

provision of services that are of

officer.

for
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Upon conviction of an offence

shall obtain from their corporate

under these provisions the licensee

customers’ information concerning

or the employee is liable on

their principal shareholders i.e. those

summary conviction to a fine of

holding more than 5% of the paid up

Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000)

share capital of the company. This

and to imprisonment for five years

information should be verified

or on indictment to a fine of One

through the registers of the company.

Hundred

Dollars

In the case of a non-resident customer

($100,000) or the value of the

(including a corporate customer), a

proceeds of drug trafficking,

reference must be provided by the

whichever is greater, and to

customer’s foreign bankers. These

imprisonment for ten years.

identification procedures must be

Thousand

followed on the opening of any

Know your Customer

account, entry into a fiduciary

2.

Policies and procedures should be

transaction, renting of safety deposit

established for verifying the identity

boxes, provision of safe custody

of all customers (i.e. both new and

facilities or the performance of large

existing customers) of licensees.

cash transactions on behalf of any

Licensees shall request from new

person or corporation by a licensee,

customers documentary evidence of

including deposits into an account by

identity that includes a photograph

a person whose name does not appear

and signature. Copies of such

on the mandate for that account. A

documents should be retained.

licensee should not enter into a

Addresses should be verified e.g. by

relationship with a customer or

recent Utility Bills. Copies of all such

provide any services to any person

documents should be retained on file

who refuses to provide or provides

for a minimum of five years after the

inadequate evidence of identity.

banker/customer relationship has
come to an end. Licensees shall

Licensees shall not keep anonymous

obtain from all customers including

accounts. Where accounts are opened

signatories to corporate accounts

or services provided by a licensee and

their full name, date of birth (or

the licensee suspects that the

Certificate of Registration in the case

customers are not acting on their own

of a company), nationality and

behalf, the licensee shall verify the

occupation (or the Memorandum and

true identity of the persons on whose

Articles of Association in the case of

behalf the account is opened or the

a company). Where practical,

transaction is conducted. If the

confirmation of identity for account

licensee is not satisfied with the

opening purposes should be sought

response of the customer it shall

from other financial institutions and

terminate all relations with that

licensees are urged to co-operate in

customer forthwith. Where licensees

these matters. Occupational income

provide

should be verified by the customer’s

numbered accounts, steps must be

employer or by audited financial

taken to verify the true identity of the

statements for the previous three

beneficiaries of such services or the

years in the case of self-employed

holders of such accounts.

persons and companies. Licensees
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3.

nominee

services

or

CENTRAL BANK OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Record Keeping
4.

7.
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Where a suspicious transaction has

Licensees shall maintain for a

been reported to the law enforcement

minimum of five years all necessary

authorities licensees are expected to

records on transactions, both

co-operate

domestic and international, to enable

authorities. The customer or other

them to comply with information

person

requests from law enforcement

transaction has been or is to be

authorities. Records must be kept in

carried out should not be informed

sufficient

that a report has been made to the

form

reconstruction

to
of

permit

individual

on

fully
whose

with

those

behalf

the

law enforcement authorities.

transactions so as to provide
evidence, if necessary, for the

Compliance Officers

prosecution of criminal behaviour.

8.

Licensees should designate one or

These records should be made

more senior officials within their

available

enforcement

organisation to carry out the

authorities in the context of criminal

functions of Compliance Officers.

investigations and prosecutions.

These officers will have responsibility

to

law

for reviewing the initial findings of

Unusual or Suspicious Transactions

suspicious or unusual transactions

5.

Licensees should properly document

by the staff of the licensee. Where the

the background and purpose of all

Compliance Officers consider the

large,

suspicions to be justified they shall

complex

transactions

and

or

unusual

patterns

of

report those suspicions to the law

transactions which have no apparent

enforcement authorities. Compliance

economic or visibly lawful purpose.

Officers shall operate as the liaison

Such documentation should be

officers where the licensee is required

retained for a minimum of five years

to act in accordance with the

by the licensee.

instructions of the law enforcement
authorities. Compliance Officers

6.

Where it is suspected that any

should be adequately trained to detect

transaction carried out or to be

money laundering activities by

carried out by a licensee on behalf of

customers or other persons using the

a customer or any person may form

services of the licensee. Compliance

part of or constitute a suspicious

Officers shall be responsible for

transaction,

procedures

maintaining the records of unusual

established by the licensee for

transactions undertaken by the

reporting such matters to the law

licensee on behalf of its customers.

enforcement authorities shall be

The identity of Compliance Officers

instituted without delay. A suspicious

must be treated with the strictest

transaction is one that is inconsistent

confidence by the employees of

with a customer’s known legitimate

licensees.

the

business or personal activities or with
the normal business for that type of

Training and Education

account. A non-exhaustive list of

9.

Licensees should introduce without

examples of suspicious transactions

delay training programs to make their

is appended for the guidance of

staff aware of their obligations in

licensees.

relation to matters of money
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laundering. These programmes

procedures

should cover all matters dealt with by

compliance with these guidelines.

these guidelines and the anti-money

Semi-annual reports by the internal

laundering legislative provisions.

auditors should be submitted to the

Refresher training should be provided

Board of Directors of the licensee and

at regular intervals no less frequently

to the Central Bank of Trinidad and

than once per year. Details of training

Tobago during the first two years of

programs should be submitted to the

operation of these guidelines. The

Inspector

report of the external auditors shall

of

Banks

prior

to

implementation.

and

systems

for

be submitted to the Central Bank on
an annual basis.

General
10. Licensees shall make all efforts to

14. Although money laundering is

ensure that they hire and retain staff

currently only an offence in relation

of the highest levels of integrity and

to the proceeds of illegal drug

competence and shall continually

trafficking, licensees are urged to

update their staff records for this

sever all relations with customers

purpose.

whom they reasonably suspect to be
involved with the proceeds of any

11. Licensees should exercise extreme

other crime.

caution in their business dealings
with persons including financial
institutions from other countries,

EXAMPLES OF SUSPICIOUS
TRANSACTIONS

especially those countries which have
no legal provisions or insufficient legal
provisions to counter the incidence

1.

Money Laundering Using Cash
Transactions

of money laundering.
a. Unusually large cash deposits
12. Licensees should ensure to the extent

made by an individual or company

permitted by the locally applicable

whose

laws and regulations that these

activities would normally be

ostensible

business

guidelines are upheld by their

generated by cheques and other

branches, subsidiaries and associate

instruments (e.g. used car sales

companies abroad, especially in those

outlets, real estate agencies).

countries where there are no or

50

insufficient legal provisions to counter

b. Substantial increases in cash

the incidence of money laundering.

deposits of any individual or

Where local laws prohibit the

business without apparent cause,

implementation of these guidelines by

especially if such deposits are

such branches, subsidiaries or

subsequently transferred within a

associate companies, licensees are

short period out of the account

required to inform the Office of the

and/or to a destination not

Inspector of Banks, Central Bank of

normally associated with the

Trinidad and Tobago.

customer.

13. The internal and external auditors of

c. Customers who deposit cash by

licensees should test their policies,

means of numerous credit slips so

CENTRAL BANK OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

that the total of each deposit is
unremarkable, but the total of all

2.
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Money Laundering Using Bank
Accounts

the credits is significant.
a. Customers who wish to maintain
whose

a number of trustee or clients’

transactions, both deposits and

accounts which do not appear

withdrawals are denominated by

consistent with the type of

cash rather than the forms of debit

business, including transactions

and credit normally associated

which involve nominee names.

d. Company

accounts

with commercial operations (e.g.
cheques, Letters of Credit, Bills of

b. Customers who have numerous
accounts and pay in amounts of

Exchange, etc.).

cash

to

each

of

them

in

e. Customers who constantly pay-in

circumstances in which the total

or deposit cash to cover requests

of credits would be a large amount.

for

bankers

drafts,

money

transfers or other negotiable and
readily

marketable

money

c. Any individual or company whose
account shows virtually no normal
personal banking or business

instruments.

related activities, but is used to
f. Customers who seek to exchange

receive or disburse large sums

low

which have no obvious purpose or

denomination notes for those of

relationship to the account holder

higher denominations.

and/or his business (e.g. a

large

quantities

of

substantial increase in turnover on
g. Frequent exchange of cash into

an account).

other currencies.
d. Reluctance to provide normal
h. Branches that have a great deal

information when opening an

more cash transactions than usual

account, providing minimal or

(Head Office statistics detect

fictitious information or, when

aberrations in cash transactions).

applying to open an account,
providing information that is

i. Customers whose deposits contain
counterfeit notes or forged

difficult or expensive for the
financial institution to verify.

instruments.
e. Customers who appear to have
j. Customers transferring large sums

accounts with several financial

of money to or from overseas

institutions within the same

locations with instructions for

locality, especially when the bank

payment in cash.

is aware of a regular consolidation
process from such accounts prior

k. Large cash deposits using night
safe facilities, thereby avoiding

to

a

request

for

onward

transmission of the funds.

direct contact with bank staff.
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f. Matching of payments out with

n. Insufficient use of normal banking

credits paid in by cash on the same

facilities e.g. avoidance of high

or previous day.

interest rate facilities for large
balances.

g. Paying in large third party cheques
endorsed

in

favour

of

the

o. Large number of individuals

customer.

making payments into the same
account without an adequate

h. Large cash withdrawals from a
previously

explanation.

dormant/inactive

account. Or from an account

3.

which has just received an

Money Laundering Using
Investment Related Transactions

unexpected large credit from
a. Purchasing of securities to be held

abroad.

by the financial institution in safe
i. Customers who together, and

custody, where this does not

simultaneously, use separate

appear appropriate given the

tellers

customer’s apparent standing.

to

conduct

large

transactions to foreign exchange
b. Back

transactions.

to

back

deposit/loan

transactions with subsidiaries of,
j. Greater use of safe deposit

or affiliates of, overseas financial

facilities. Increased activity by

institutions in known drug

individuals. The use of sealed

trafficking areas.

packets deposited and withdrawn.
c. Requests
k. Companies’

by

customers

for

investment management services

representatives

(either

avoiding contact with the branch.

foreign

currency

or

securities) where the source of the
l. Substantial increases in deposits

funds is unclear or not consistent

of cash or negotiable instruments

with the customer’s apparent

by a professional firm or company,

standing.

using client accounts or in-house
d. Larger or unusual settlements of

company or trust accounts,

securities in cash form.

especially if the deposits are
promptly transferred between

e. Buying and Selling of a security

other client company and trust

with no discernible purpose or in

accounts.

circumstances which appear
unusual.

m.Customers who decline to provide
information that in normal
circumstances would make the
customer eligible for credit or for

4.

Money Laundering by Off-Shore
International Activity

other banking services that would
be regarded as valuable.

a. Customer introduced by an
overseas branch, affiliate or other
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bank based in countries where

5.

production of drugs or drug
trafficking may be prevalent.

2001 ANNUAL REPORT

Money Laundering Involving
Financial Institution Employees
and Agents
a. Changes

b. Use of Letters of Credit and other

in

employee

methods of trade finance to move

characteristics, e.g. lavish life

money between countries where

styles or avoiding taking holidays.

such trade is not consistent with
b. Changes in employee or agent

the customer’s usual business.

performance, e.g. the salesman
c. Customers who make regular and

selling products for cash has

large payments, including wire

remarkable or unexpected increase

transactions, that cannot be

in performance.

clearly identified as bona fide
c. Any dealing with an agent where

transactions to, or receive regular
from,

the identity of the ultimate

countries which are commonly

beneficiary or counterparty is

associated with the production,

undisclosed, contrary to normal

processing or marketing of drugs;

procedure for the type of business

proscribed terrorist organisations;

concerned.

and

large

payments

(tax haven countries).

6.
d. Building up of large balances, not
consistent
turnover

with
of

the

the

Money Laundering by Secured and
Unsecured Lending

known

customer’s

business, and subsequent transfer

a. Customers who repay problem
loans unexpectedly.

to account(s) held overseas.
b. Request to borrow against assets
e. Unexplained electronic fund

held by the financial institution or

transfers by customers on an in

a third party, where the origin of

and out basis or without passing

the assets is not known or the

through an account.

assets are inconsistent with the
customer’s standing.

f. Frequent paying in of travellers
cheques or foreign currency drafts

c. Request by a customer for a

or other negotiable instruments to

financial institution to provide or

be issued.

arrange finance where the source
of

the

customer’s

financial

g. Frequent paying in of travellers

contribution to a deal is unclear,

cheques or foreign currency drafts

particularly where property is

particularly if originating from

involved.

overseas.
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Appendix II
Organisational Structure

CENTRAL BANK OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO
ORGANISATION CHART
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Winston Dookeran, Amoy Chang Fong, Thomas Evans,
Randolph Kong, Winston Thompson, Dr. Patrick Watson,
Raymond Ottley, Leroy Mayers, Radica Maharaj (Secretary)

Internal Audit
Manager
Advisor to Governor
Dr. Penelope Forde

Suzanne Roach

GOVERNOR
Winston Dookeran

Strategic Programme
Coordinator

Legal Department
Manager

Janice Woods

Radica Maharaj

DEPUTY GOVERNOR
OPERATIONS
Amoy Chang Fong

Senior Manager
Financial Systems Infrastructure

Senior Manager
Finance & Adminstration

Joan John

Hollis De Four

Investment Management
Manager

M.I.S.
Manager

Finance & Accounting
Manager

Shabirul Mohammed

Jennifer Greaves

Faizool Mohammed

Human Resources
Banking
Operations
Manager,
Manager

DEPUTY GOVERNOR
RESEARCH & POLICY

INSPECTOR
OF BANKS

(Vacant)

Henry Jeffers

Research
Manager

Bank Inspection
Manager

Charles de Silva (Ag.)

Margaret Sealy

General & Facilities Services
Manager

Human Resources
Manager

Lorna Deane

Lynette Adams

Lynette
AdamsFarmer
Caramae

Library, Records
& Archives
Manager
June Stewart

Security
Chief of Security

Corporate Relations Unit
Officer-in-Charge

Lt. Col. A.R.N. Baden-Semper

Judith Gonzales
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Appendix III
Operational Statistics
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TABLE A.1
Currency in Circulation
1998 - September 2001
(Dollars Thousand)
End of
Month

Notes
(Old TT)

Notes
(Republic)

Total Notes
In Circulation

Coins

Total Currency
In Circulation

1998

19,092

1,114,431

1,133,523

62,261

1,195,784

1999

19,092

1,226,052

1,245,144

66,543

1,311,687

September

19,091

1,272,353

1,291,444

70,228

1,361,672

October

19,091

1,314,807

1,333,898

70,746

1,404,644

November

19,091

1,341,068

1,360,159

71,244

1,431,403

December

19,091

1,606,731

1,625,822

72,004

1,697,826

2000

2001
January

19,091

1,342,601

1,361,692

71,948

1,433,640

February

19,091

1,398,923

1,418,014

71,820

1,489,834

March

19,091

1,383,698

1,402,789

72,265

1,475,054

April

19,091

1,358,421

1,377,512

72,598

1,450,110

May

19,091

1,395,776

1,414,867

73,362

1,488,229

June

19,091

1,364,522

1,383,613

73,749

1,457,362

July

19,091

1,399,619

1,418,710

74,340

1,493,050

August

19,091

1,433,087

1,452,178

74,800

1,526,978

September

19,091

1,406,027

1,425,118

75,333

1,500,451
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TABLE A.2
Central Bank Statement of Liabilities and Assets, October 1999 - September 2001
(Dollars Thousand)
Liabilities

Assets

Deposits

End of
Month

Currency in
Circulation

Non-Bank
Commercial Financial
Banks
Institutions

1
Government &
Governmental
Organisations

External Assets

International
Organisations

Other
Liabilities

Capital &
Reserve
Funds

Total
Liabilities

2
Balances
With Banks
Abroad

Other Foreign
Securities

Gold Subscription
To International
Monetary Fund

Subscriptions
To International
Organisations

SDR’s

TT Dollar
Securities

Other Assets
Including
Fixed Asset

Total Assets

1999/00
October

1,306,381

2,740,163 482,552

1,733,117

46,136

2,388,442

124,474

8,821,265

1,910,685

3,968,704

25,402

84,603

3,433

379,595

2,448,843

8,821,265

November

1,360,900

2,642,539 477,784

1,267,139

45,724

2,601,961

124,474

8,520,521

1,991,597

3,615,760

25,402

84,603

30

378,940

2,424,189

8,520,521

December

1,763,816

2,557,705 473,687

1,306,833

47,602

2,875,886

124,474

9,150,003

2,131,256

4,084,876

25,402

84,603

30

411,252

2,412,584

9,150,003

January

1,360,826

2,953,143 485,499

866,998

43,080

3,213,799

124,474

9,047,819

2,440,557

3,739,476

25,402

84,603

4,274

396,386

2,357,121

9,047,819

February

1,401,278

2,538,367 494,584

626,423

43,264

3,653,168

124,474

8,881,558

2,471,122

3,509,628

25,402

84,603

816

421,788

2,368,199

8,881,558

March

1,372,374

2,877,360 500,001

425,302

44,780

3,718,669

124,474

9,062,960

1,827,081

4,153,956

25,402

84,603

816

479,066

2,492,036

9,062,960

April

1,387,486

2,973,401 495,726

426,528

43,952

3,800,921

124,474

9,252,488

2,885,828

3,221,983

25,402

84,603

4,999

437,061

2,592,612

9,252,488

May

1,350,531

2,580,416 458,114

851,132

44,591

3,669,285

124,474

9,078,543

2,400,942

3,594,387

25,402

84,603

1,088

601,485

2,370,636

9,078,543

June

1,345,935

2,840,756 451,222

3,350,855

43,895

3,121,096

124,474

11,278,233

3,427,833

4,890,547

25,402

84,603

966

395,546

2,453,336

11,278,233
11,434,154

July

1,359,498

2,654,701 470,295

3,762,056

44,911

3,018,219

124,474

11,434,154

4,874,360

3,685,009

25,402

84,603

5,105

395,538

2,364,137

August

1,377,489

2,672,667 489,923

3,540,491

45,024

3,093,865

124,474

11,343,933

4,944,293

3,519,819

25,402

84,603

864

395,500

2,373,452

11,343,933

September

1,361,672

2,708,039 513,448

4,475,354

44,798

1,917,668

270,245

11,291,224

6,239,721

3,153,574

25,402

84,603

864

395,555

1,391,505

11,291,224

2000/01
October

1,412,197

2,687,613 524,033

4,138,181

45,102

3,177,286

270,245

12,254,657

5,324,166

3,700,034

25,402

84,603

5,004

395,607

2,719,841

12,254,657

November

1,437,958

2,721,100 520,920

3,026,416

45,595

3,268,015

270,245

11,290,259

4,571,156

3,622,852

25,402

84,603

5,004

394,969

2,586,273

11,290,259

December

1,704,334

2,942,995 526,066

3,482,211

47,617

3,171,868

270,245

12,145,336

4,572,943

4,475,399

25,402

84,603

500

394,909

2,591,580

12,145,336

January

1,440,895

2,799,764 522,023

3,589,700

47,017

3,780,131

270,245

12,449,775

5,620,365

3,745,902

25,402

84,603

5,468

395,052

2,572,983

12,449,775

February

1,495,192

2,611,283 509,635

3,363,111

15,206

4,163,359

270,245

12,428,031

5,634,713

3,714,227

25,402

84,603

1,148

394,760

2,573,178

12,428,031

March

1,481,021

3,033,674 511,850

3,485,254

14,908

4,197,262

270,245

12,994,214

6,479,591

3,396,897

25,402

84,603

1,148

395,076

2,611,497

12,994,214

April

1,458,330

2,856,177 526,034

3,992,674

14,681

4,316,345

270,245

13,434,486

6,747,043

3,625,080

25,402

84,603

4,218

395,081

2,553,059

13,434,486

May

1,496,521

2,483,896 518,790

4,102,377

12,601

4,707,215

270,245

13,591,645

6,689,322

3,863,017

25,402

84,603

587

411,666

2,517,048

13,591,645

June

1,465,068

2,483,175 514,738

4,736,801

12,582

4,844,756

151,511

14,208,631

7,207,759

3,857,993

25,402

84,603

587

394,210

2,638,077

14,208,631

July

1,499,066

2,996,424 516,940

4,581,320

16,571

4,673,917

151,511

14,435,749

7,868,263

3,534,070

25,402

84,603

3,726

394,180

2,525,505

14,435,749

August

1,530,987

2,898,893 515,517

4,671,373

16,485

4,726,501

151,511

14,511,267

8,201,880

3,267,732

25,402

84,603

765

394,356

2,536,529

14,511,267

September

1,507,288

3,224,059 514,113

5,418,230

18,030

2,994,785

184,786

13,861,291

10,318,711

2,222,091

25,402

84,603

765

194,118

1,015,601

13,861,291

Source: Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago
1

Includes Exchequer, Trust Funds and Other Public Deposits, Government SDR Allocation and Other Deposits

2

Includes Foreign Currencies on hand
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TABLE A.3
Financial Institutions:
Average Deposit Liabilities, Required Cash Reserves
and Actual Cash Reserves
for the Financial Year Ending September 2001
Reserve Period
Ending

Average Deposit
Liabilities
($000)

Required Cash
Reserves (21%).As
at May 22 (18%)

Average Actual
Cash Reserves
($000)

($000)
03-Oct-00
10-Oct-00
17-Oct-00
24-Oct-00
31-Oct-00

12,191,486
12,190,229
12,235,900
12,238,019
12,214,833

2,560,212
2,559,948
2,569,539
2,569,984
2,565,115

2,560,246
2,559,890
2,569,572
2,570,073
2,564,441

07-Nov-00
14-Nov-00
21-Nov-00
28-Nov-00

12,219,743
12,194,824
12,211,405
12,271,590

2,566,146
2,560,913
2,564,395
2,577,034

2,566,212
2,561,001
2,564,440
2,577,074

05-Dec-00
12-Dec-00
19-Dec-00
26-Dec-00

12,303,095
12,303,233
12,382,100
12,359,133

2,583,650
2,583,679
2,600,241
2,595,418

2,583,816
2,583,719
2,600,261
2,599,770

02-Jan-01
09-Jan-01
16-Jan-01
23-Jan-01
30-Jan-01

12,435,843
12,471,176
12,516,586
12,624,924
12,529,843

2,611,527
2,618,947
2,628,483
2,651,234
2,631,267

2,611,676
2,618,979
2,627,592
2,651,327
2,631,325

06-Feb-01
13-Feb-01
20-Feb-01
27-Feb-01

12,479,562
12,415,152
12,329,219
12,371,914

2,620,708
2,607,182
2,589,136
2,598,102

2,621,109
2,607,285
2,589,191
2,600,295

06-Mar-01
13-Mar-01
20-Mar-01
27-Mar-01

12,422,086
12,426,714
12,481,433
12,515,233

2,608,638
2,609,610
2,621,101
2,628,199

2,608,691
2,609,706
2,621,161
2,628,537

03-Apr-01
10-Apr-01
17-Apr-01
24-Apr-01

12,518,948
12,538,148
12,572,614
12,461,224

2,628,979
2,633,011
2,640,249
2,616,857

2,628,952
2,632,958
2,640,318
2,616,918

01-May-01
08-May-01
15-May-01
22-May-01
29-May-01

12,424,367
12,464,843
12,525,133
12,532,789
12,603,967

2,609,117
2,617,617
2,630,278
2,255,902
2,268,714

2,609,158
2,617,567
2,630,334
2,255,998
2,271,456

05-Jun-01
12-Jun-01
19-Jun-01
26-Jun-01

12,662,022
12,593,022
12,606,667
12,632,383

2,279,164
2,266,744
2,269,200
2,273,829

2,279,143
2,266,354
2,268,945
2,273,839

03-Jul-01
10-Jul-01
17-Jul-01
24-Jul-01
31-Jul-01

12,599,706
12,597,978
12,632,633
12,698,994
12,744,728

2,267,947
2,267,636
2,273,874
2,285,819
2,294,051

2,267,904
2,268,921
2,273,953
2,285,870
2,296,602

07-Aug-01
14-Aug-01
21-Aug-01
28-Aug-01

12,799,367
12,885,039
13,015,461
13,160,172

2,303,886
2,319,307
2,342,783
2,368,831

2,303,943
2,319,860
2,342,851
2,368,866

04-Sep-01
11-Sep-01
18-Sep-01
25-Sep-01

13,303,278
13,464,089
13,600,600
13,761,617

2,394,590
2,423,536
2,448,108
2,477,091

2,395,096
2,423,568
2,448,193
2,477,081
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TABLE A.4
Non-Bank Financial Institutions:
Average Deposit Liabilities, Required Cash Reserves
and Actual Cash Reserves
for the Financial Year Ending September 2001
Reserve Period
Ending

64

Average Deposit
Liabilities

Required Cash
Reserves (9%)

Average Actual
Cash Reserves

($000)

($000)

($000)

03-Oct-00
10-Oct-00
17-Oct-00
24-Oct-00
31-Oct-00

5,697,778
5,753,633
5,816,878
5,845,033
5,809,256

512,800
517,827
523,519
526,053
522,833

513,448
518,650
532,503
527,124
524,020

07-Nov-00
14-Nov-00
21-Nov-00
28-Nov-00

5,748,589
5,700,011
5,672,756
5,706,689

517,373
513,001
510,548
513,602

518,753
514,476
512,051
515,244

05-Dec-00
12-Dec-00
19-Dec-00
26-Dec-00

5,767,633
5,846,633
5,892,900
5,840,167

519,087
526,197
530,361
525,615

520,979
528,009
532,262
527,642

02-Jan-01
09-Jan-01
16-Jan-01
23-Jan-01
30-Jan-01

5,817,600
5,734,867
5,709,622
5,787,389
5,790,689

523,584
516,138
513,866
520,865
521,162

526,254
518,301
515,892
522,719
522,006

07-Feb-01
13-Feb-01
20-Feb-01
27-Feb-01

5,753,122
5,753.122
5,708,556
5,669,422

517,781
517,781
513,770
510,248

518,511
518,443
514,409
510,873

06-Mar-01
13-Mar-01
20-Mar-01
27-Mar-01

5,661,922
5,676,900
5,636,089
5,665,389

509,573
510,921
507,248
509,885

510,419
513,937
510,326
512,493

03-Apr-01
10-Apr-01
17-Apr-01
24-Apr-01

5,672,200
5,687,756
5,721,111
5,804,100

510,498
511,898
514,900
522,369

511,851
513,381
515,881
523,317

01-May-01
08-May-01
15-May-01
22-May-01
29-May-01

5,835,022
5,873,378
5,880,956
5,795,011
5,776,522

525,152
528,604
529,286
521,551
519,887

526,034
529,576
530,356
522,344
520,740

05-Jun-01
12-Jun-01
19-Jun-01
26-Jun-01

5,752,111
5,737,289
5,736,722
5,710,256

517,690
516,356
516,305
513,923

518,963
517,845
517,737
515,114

03-Jul-01
10-Jul-01
17-Jul-01
24-Jul-01
31-Jul-01

5,708,056
5,694,156
5,677,700
5,718,500
5,706,422

513,725
512,474
510,993
514,665
513,578

514,738
513,449
512,031
515,602
515,077

07-Aug-01
14-Aug-01
21-Aug-01
28-Aug-01

5,723,367
5,739,056
5,722,378
5,715,000

515,103
516,515
515,014
514,350

516,798
518,314
516,240
515,582

04-Sep-01
11-Sep-01
18-Sep-01
25-Sep-01

5,716,267
5,707,033
5,701,778
5,699,367

514,464
513,633
513,160
512,943

515,537
514,677
514,683
513,961

Artwork Acknowledgement

S

ince its establishment in
1964, the Central Bank
of Trinidad and Tobago
has been acquiring works of art
produced by local artists in
differing media as part of its
contribution to preserving and
presenting the national culture.

Carlisle HARRIS - “Palm of Peace” - 1985
(medium - Oil on canvas).

Dennis SEATON - “Bamboo Shoots” - c. 1975
(medium - Oil on linen).

The Collection began in 1967
with the commissioning of a
large mural titled “The
Elements - Air, Earth, Fire and
Water (Equinox)” by Carlyle
Chang. Since then, the Bank has
consistently added to its
Collection
which
now
comprises 128 pieces in
paintings, sculptures and
various pieces of craft and folk
art from some 60 artists, making
it one of the most extensive
private collections in the
country.
The Collection was exhibited
for public viewing in 1989 and
1994. Several pieces were
loaned for an exhibition at the
Commonwealth Secretariat in
London, United Kingdom.
The abstracts used in this report
are taken, with the permission
of the artists, from three pieces
in the Bank’s Collection.

.
LeRoy CLARKE - “Sketch of Another Geography” - 1991
(medium - Acrylic on paper).
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